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Letter to shareholders

General part

Dear shareholders, employees and friends,

if there had to be one word which characterized the
reporting year 2007 of AURELIUS it would without
doubt be this: growth. Indeed, much more than we
had planned. All our forecasts were well exceeded.

In the past year we took over eight companies.
Sales rose in the financial year 2007 14.6 times to
k€ 316,736. Annualized this would be k€ 650,000.
Earning also increased: EBITDA of the whole group
amounted to k€ 72,302 which is 17.1 times that of
the prior year.The net profit after minority interests
grew by 24.5 times to k€ 47,409. Earnings per share
grew strongly by € 5.20 per share with undiluted
earnings increasing to € 5.43. The free cash flow
also increased strongly to k€ 23,642.

We are proud of these figures. They prove that
AURELIUS has taken a profitable course and that
we followed our chosen path consequently in 2007.
We want you, the shareholders of AURELIUS, to
share in this success. The management board and
the supervisory board will therefore propose the
very first dividend of € 0.15 at the annual general
meeting which will take place in Munich on July 10,
2008.

The portfolio grew to twelve companies in the
reporting year. AURELIUS was successful in positio-
ning itself as a reliable partner to large groups – not
least due to increasing awareness of the company
and its good reputation in the market. Groups such
as Deutsche Post, SauerDanfoss Inc., Arcandor (for-

merly KarstadtQuelle), Wellman Inc., Douglas
Holding or Daimler appreciate our “Good Home”
approach and have sold subsidiaries to us. In this,
AURELIUS sees itself not so much as an industry
expert – the companies taken over usually already
have sound industry know-how – but rather as an
expert for complex upheavals and special situati-
ons. Therefore AURELIUS has established a diversi-
fied portfolio without pursuing an industry focus or
following so-called “buy-and-build” strategies. The
diversification approach will continue in the cur-
rent year.

The second half of the year 2007 in particular was
characterized by capital measures. AURELIUS car-
ried out a stock split in August of 1:14. In the course
of this, the majority of the existing capital reserve
was converted into ordinary share capital.
Subsequently 13 new shares per old share were
issued, which were quoted for the first time on
August 27, 2007. On August 24, 2007 – despite the
strong turbulence brewing in the capital market –
AURELIUS successfully carried out a capital increa-
se. As such we are well equipped for the year 2008.

In the summer of 2007 concerted effort commence
to improve our investor relations and public relati-
ons. We held numerous investor meetings in
Munich, Frankfurt, London, Edinburgh, Amsterdam,
Paris, Geneva and Zurich. Our continuous work on
press relations and our presence at various mee-
tings of experts before national and international 

[ ]DEVELOPMENT OF THE 

PORTFOLIO IN 2007

[ ]STRENGTHENING CAPITAL 
MEASURES AND INVESTOR 

RELATIONS IN 2007
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audiences have greatly increased the degree of
awareness of our company in the reporting year.
These activities, together with the work of a desig-
nated sponsor since the middle of September, and
the coverage of AURELIUS by analysts, has made a
significant contribution to increasing the trading
liquidity of our shares. The daily trading liquidity in
the 30-day average as of the last trading day in
2006 was € 3,500, compared to € 317,700 as of the
last trading day in 2007 (also 30-day average).This
increase in trading liquidity has made the share
considerably more attractive, in particular for insti-
tutional investors.

The pleasing developments of our company are
people. It is our staff, who, day-in, day-out, ensures
our operative and strategic goals are achieved, if
not exceeded as was the case in 2007. The number
of staff grew continuously in the reporting year. In
order also to establish the organizational basis for
further stable growth, two new members of the
Management Board were appointed by the
Supervisory Board in December 2007: since January
1, 2008 Donatus Albrecht is the director responsible
for acquisitions/deinvestments and Ulrich Radl-
mayr has taken on finance, legal and tax.

The American economy is in recession. The coming
weeks will show to what extent the American sub-
prime crisis will affect the European economy. In
general experience has taught us that recession
leads to lower purchase prices for businesses.

However, restructuring can also prove more diffi-
cult. In a good economic environment the opposite
can be true: higher prices but better chances of suc-
cess in restructuring. As such there is potential for
AURELIUS in all phases of an economic cycle.

The current credit shortage in the banking sector
does not have any adverse effects on AURELIUS
since our activities are almost totally financed from
equity. On the contrary, we expect that the short-
age of classical bank finance will provide us with
numerous potential acquisition targets.

AURELIUS’s motto for 2008 is “Grow and create
value”. Our goals for the current year are ambitious.
We want to break through the billion-euro barrier
on annualized sales and increase EBITDA further. In
addition to the development of operations we will
continue to focus on strengthening the capital
market communication and the regular dialogue
with our shareholders. A milestone will be the
planned change into the Prime Standard, which
should take place in the second half of 2008.“Grow
and create value”– not least, this motto should also
lead to further increases in the market capitaliza-
tion and as such underpin the shareholder value
approach as an important component of our busi-
ness philosophy.

We can only operate successfully if all participants
work together in confidence. We would therefore

[ ]EXPANSION OF THE

MANAGEMENT BOARD

[ ]ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT AND

THE SUBPRIME CRISIS

[ ]2008 – GROW 

AND CREATE VALUE

[ ]YOUR LOYALTY IS WHAT WE NEED

TO CREATE LONG-TERM VALUE
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like to extend our thanks to all our staff and busi-
ness partners. Particular thanks however, go to you,
our shareholders. Your loyalty forms the basis of
our work, your loyalty is what we need to reach our
goal of creating long-term value. We will make
every effort to secure your continued loyalty.

Yours sincerely 

Munich, April 14, 2008

The Management Board of AURELIUS AG:
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Dr. Dirk Markus (Vorsitzender)             Gert Purkert

Donatus Albrecht Ulrich Radlmayr
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The Management Board

Dr. Dirk Markus
Chairman

On completion of a degree in business administration and a PhD at St. Gallen, Dr. Markus worked for
McKinsey & Company for five years. His work focused on the planning and implementation of cost reduc-
tion and recapitalization programs and the implementation of new technologies. Subsequently, he found-
ed the Mercateo AG and as a director was responsible for finance and corporate development. After the
successful sale of the company to E.on, Dr. Markus co-founded a first investment company listed at the
stock market. As member of the board liable for restructuring, he personally accompanied ten companies,
four of which he acted as responsible managing director. Dr. Markus is married and father of three small
children.

Gert Purkert

Following a degree in physics in Leipzig and Lausanne Mr. Purkert worked for McKinsey & Company and
gained experience in process improvement, cost-cutting programs and strategic reorientation. After this
he was co-founder of equinet AG in Frankfurt, an investment bank which today targets small and medi-
um-sized German companies and employs about 120 professionals. As managing director of a subsidiary
he worked on equity investments and M&A transactions. He has participated in more than 15 transactions
and acted in two cases as the local Managing Director.

Ulrich Radlmayr

Ulrich Radlmayr studied law in Hamburg, Aix-en-Provence (France) and Munich. After his legal clerks-
hip for the Free State of Bavaria he worked as attorney at law for P+P Pöllath + Partners for five years,
focussing on the areas of private equity and M&A. Thus he assisted a multitude of especially large volu-
me buy-out transactions, private equity investments as well as investments in distressed assets of well-
known institutional investors. In 2006 he was co-founder of law firm AFR Aigner Fischer Radlmayr,
Munich. The firm is specialized on legal and fiscal transaction consulting during the purchase, sale,
restructuring and financing of companies.

Donatus Albrecht

After his studies in economics at Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität (LMU) in Munich Mr Alrecht worked
for the corporate development department of Deutsche Bahn and gained experience in process impro-
vement, cost reductions programs as well as strategic refocusing. Subsequently, he changed his job
working in the finance business for Pricap Venture Partners AG (Thomas Mantzen Group), a venture
capital and private equity entity. Within the following six years he assisted more than 20 transactions
from seed financing to initial public offering as investment manager and authorized signatory.
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Report of the Supervisory Board
Dear shareholders,
The supervisory board of AURELIUS AG fulfilled its duties required by law and the articles of incorpora-
tion in the financial year 2007 with particular regard. It monitored and advised the management board
continuously. It received regular, timely and comprehensive written and verbal reports from the mana-
gement board on the business development of AURELIUS AG and the group companies, on the strate-
gic alignment of the company and on the planned acquisitions and the status of the strategy imple-
mentation.

In the four ordinary meetings on April 25, June 27, September 27 and December 10 of 2007, which were
attended by all the members of the supervisory board, the supervisory board thoroughly addressed all
the matters pertinent to the business. The supervisory board discussed in detail with the management
board the development of operations, the strategic concept, the short-term and medium-term busin-
ess and capital expenditure plans, the development of profits and liquidity, the risk situation and risk
management and other significant organizational and personnel-related changes. The supervisory
board addressed the question of Corporate Governance in detail including the examination of its effi-
ciency.

In all the meetings the supervisory board was provided with detailed information on the progress of
the financial year. Significant business transactions and the movement in the financial ratios were also
matters covered continuously in the supervisory board meetings. The focus in the meeting on April 25,
2007 was on the financial statements and the IFRS consolidated financial statements, including the
group management report of AURELIUS AG for the financial year 2006 and the related audit, the pre-
paration of the annual shareholders’ meeting and questions concerning corporate governance. The
meeting on June 27, 2007 included the election of the chairman of the supervisory board and the appro-
val of the bye laws for the supervisory board. The meeting on September 27, 2007 concerned the report
of the management board on the capital increase, the status of the acquisition projects and the com-
pany’s share option scheme. The meeting on December 10, 2007 discussed in particular the current
position of the company and the outlook for the financial year 2008, the report on the measures taken
concerning investor relations and financing, and the expansion of the management board.

The management board also reported matters of particular significance or those which had to be
handled promptly to the supervisory board between the official meetings. As necessary, resolutions
were voted on in writing or by telephone or electronic means.The conditional voting procedures for cer-
tain transactions contained in the bye laws of the management board were observed. In addition, the
chairman of the supervisory board had regular contact with the management board, in particular with
its chairman, and discussed strategic considerations with him, the progress of operations, significant
personnel-related matters and the risk management. The chairman of the supervisory board was
always kept informed on a timely basis of any unusual matters which were of significance for the
assessment of the company’s position and its development.
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There was no change during the financial year 2007 in the members of the supervisory board. There
were no committees. In its meeting on December 10, 2007, the supervisory board appointed Mr
Donatus Albrecht (Acquisitions/Deinvestments) and Mr Ulrich Radlmayer (Finance, Legal and Tax) as
members of the management board.

The members of the supervisory board fulfilled, and fulfill, the independence requirements stated in
the German Corporate Governance Code (“Code”). Conflicts of interest as defined in the German
Corporate Governance Code were avoided. The management board and the supervisory board made a
compliance statement on April 30, 2007 in accordance with § 161 German Companies Act (AktG). This
was made public for the financial year 2006 together with the annual financial statements and the
consolidated annual financial statements. A revised version will be made available to the shareholders
under www.aureliusinvest.de when the annual report for the year 2007 is published.

The financial statements of AURELIUS AG prepared by the management board in accordance with the
German Commercial Code (HGB) are not required by law to be audited but have been audited on a
voluntary basis by Deloitte & Touche Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft GmbH, Munich, together with
the accounting records. The audit did not lead to any reservations. Therefore the financial statements
of AURELIUS AG as at December 31, 2007 have been issued with an unqualified audit opinion.

The consolidated financial statements and the group directors’ report for the financial year 2007, drawn
up on a voluntary basis in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), have
been audited by Deloitte & Touche Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, GmbH, Munich, together with the
accounting records. From AURELIUS’S point of view the audit did not lead to any significant reservati-
ons. Therefore, with the exceptions that individualised details as required by IFRS 3 were not disclosed,
and the gain on sale was not disclosed as required by IFRS 5, the consolidated financial statements were
issued with an otherwise unqualified audit opinion.

In its meeting on April 14, 2007 the supervisory board itself, in a joint meeting with the auditors, exami-
ned the financial statements, the IFRS consolidated financial statements and the group management
report for the financial year 2007. The auditor’s opinion for the financial statements and the consolida-
ted financial statements of AURELIUS AG were made available to the members of the supervisory
board on time before the meeting in which these financial statements were approved. The auditors
provided detailed information to the supervisory board and were available for in-depth questions.
Following detailed discussions, based on its own examination, the supervisory board agreed with the
auditor’s evaluation of the audit of the financial statements and the consolidated financial statements.
In conclusion of its own examination the supervisory board did not have any reservations concerning
the financial statements or the consolidated financial statements. The supervisory board approved the
financial statements for the financial year 2007 prepared by the management board. The financial sta-
tements are therefore adopted. The supervisory board also approved the IFRS consolidated financial
statements and the group management report for the financial year 2007 prepared by the manage-
ment board.
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The management board has proposed to the company the payment of a dividend of € 0.15 per
share from the net retained profits of AURELIUS AG of k€ 6,789. This corresponds to a distribution
of k€ 1,352. The remaining k€ 5,437 shall be carried forward. The supervisory board has considered
and approved this proposal.

The supervisory board would like to express its thanks to the members of the management board
and to all employees for their performance and commitment in the past year, and wish them well
for the challenges in the coming year.

Munich, April 14, 2008
Dirk Roesing

Chairman of the supervisory board
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The Supervisory Board

Dirk Roesing
Chairman

After studying business administration, Dirk Roesing began his working career in 1986 in the Group
Auditing and Treasury departments at Daimler Benz AG. From 1994 to 1996 he headed the Controlling
and M&A division at VOBIS AG, a company of the Metro Group. After that he worked as European
Finance Director and German CEO of the international Amer-Sport Group. From 1997 to 2003, Dirk
Roesing was CFO of telegate. Since 2003 he is CEO of SHS Viveon AG which is listed in the Prime
Standard of the Deutsche Börse.

Eugen M. Angster 
Deputy Chairman

Eugen M. Angster holds a master’s degree in Geology from the University of Munich and an MBA from
the European University Geneva. He took over the leadership of the German Centre “Haus der
Deutschen Wirtschaft” in Shanghai in the early 1990s. Following this he was a member of senior mana-
gement for several years with Deutsche Telekom AG, responsible for the Asian and Pacific division. Since
2001 he has been working on the restructuring of companies immediately prior to and during insolven-
cy. As director of Interim International GmbH, he heads the restructuring of
several mid-cap businesses and is Chairman of the Board of Directors of BRSI (Bundesvereinigung
Restrukturierung, Sanierung und Interim Management) (German Restructuring Association).

Sven Fritsche 

Attorney at law and tax consultant Sven Fritsche has been a partner at RP RICHTER & PARTNER since
June 2005. Prior to that, he was a partner at Peters, Schönberger & Partner GbR in Munich for many
years. His professional focus is on private equity and venture capital, he executes company acquisitions
and advises small and medium-sized companies in the field of M&A. Mr. Fritsche also has many years
of experience as a restructuring and corporate law consultant.



Translation of the German Report

12

Group Management Report of AURELIUS AG
for the financial year 2007

Allgemeiner Teil 3
Konzernlagebericht 12
Corporate Governance 53
Konzern-Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung 57
Konzernbilanz 58
Konzern-Kapitalflussrechnung 60
Konzern-Eigenkapitalentwicklung 62
Anhang zum Konzernabschluss 64
Impressum 124

Group management report

Milestones of AURELIUS AG in 2007

AURELIUS acquires Westfalia Van Conversion GmbH
from Daimler AG 

November 2007

AURELIUS acquires EINHORN Mode Manufaktur 
GmbH & Co, KG from the families Zeeb and Hornung

November 2007

AURELIUS acquires Pohland-Herrenkleidung 
GmbH & Co, KG from DOUGLAS HOLDING AG

October 2007

AURELIUS sells Grillo Peissenberg GmbH 
to the Nettle Group

September 2007

AURELIUS AG successfully places capital increase 
of 9.5 mEUR

August 2007

AURELIUS acquires Wellman International Limited 
from Wellman International Gruppe

July 2007

AURELIUS acquires Schleicher Gruppe
fromWieland Gruppe

July2007

AURELIUS acquires Quelle S.A.S from Karstadt QuelleJuly 2007

AURELIUS acquires Schabmüller GmbH 
from Sauer-Danfoss Inc.

March 2007
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Movement in the share price
The movement in the AURELIUS share price in the reporting year was extremely satisfactory. Despite the
major turbulence in the capital markets as a result of the subprime crisis, the share price more than trip-
led and rose from € 8.18 (as at December 31, 2006 taking into the adjustment for the stock split) to € 35.74
(as at December 31, 2007). As a comparison: the DAX rose by 22.3 % in 2007, the SDAX fell by -6.8 %, the LPX
50 TR Index, an index of the 50 largest investment companies worldwide, lost -0.2 %.

In order to make the share more attractive to both private and institutional investors AURELIUS carried out
a number of measures. These included a stock split in 2007 in the ratio 1:14, with the new shares (13 new
shares for each old share) being traded on August 27, 2007 for the first time. In addition to this, investor
relations activities were increased and a Designated Sponsor appointed. These measures led to a signifi-
cant increase in trading liquidity. In December 2006 average daily trading amounted to about € 3,700
(some 516 shares). In December 2007 the trading volume had increased significantly by comparison to
about € 228,000 (about 6,300 shares).

Company data
WKN AOJ K2A
ISIN DE000A0JK2A8
Ticker symbol AR4
Trading exchanges Xetra, Frankfurt, Berlin-Bremen, Hamburg, Munich, Stuttgart
Stock market tier Open Market (OTC)
Ordinary share capital 9,015,500 €
Number and class of shares 9,015,500 non-par value bearer shares
Initial listing June 26, 2006

Development of the share
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AURELIUS’s business model
The AURELIUS Group focuses on a certain segment of the investment market, that of the acquisition of
businesses undergoing upheaval and in special situations. Examples of this are conglomerate spin-offs
of non-core businesses which are then on the deinvestment list, those with unresolved succession pro-
blems or businesses which require high levels of rationalisation investment. These businesses have
often been making losses for some time when AURELIUS takes them over. In some cases unsuccessful
attempts have been made at restructuring, or at leading the businesses back to profitability. AURELIUS
is therefore usually in a position to acquire these businesses below book value, in some cases at nega-
tive purchase prices.

This kind of pricing means the losses which arise after the takeover and the costs of the restructuring
are generally financed (in part) by a so-called seller’s restructuring contribution. The negative purchase
prices which often lie below the net value of equity valued at fair value lead to a negative difference
which is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 through profit and loss.

Business review and the group’s position
Investment market and industry

The investment market in the past financial year 2007 slowed considerably as a result of the subprime
crisis following obvious over-heating in the first six months of the year. This was particularly evident in
the valuations of potential acquisitions, which rose at first and then fell, and in the related sellers’ price
expectations. In the coming 18 months competition among private equity companies for attractive
takeover targets for medium-sized transactions in Germany is expected to increase. This is supported
by a KPMG survey among the major private equity companies, banks and mezzanine capital providers.
According to this, transactions in Germany with a volume of up to E 400 million will become more sig-
nificant. Over half of those surveyed expected transactions of medium volume to remain stable.
Compared to 2006/2007 secondary buyouts will become less important. According to the industry
experts surveyed, transactions will focus on businesses which have lagged behind economic expectati-
ons or which are in a turnaround situation, that is those who are potential AURELIUS takeover candida-
tes. As a result of the transactions carried out since the founding of the company in 2006, AURELIUS
has become accepted as a welcome and reliable negotiation partner, in particular with groups who
want to divest themselves from parts of the group, and as such has established itself well in the mar-
ket.

1 The survey was published in the run-up to the private equity conference SuperReturn (February 25 to Februar 28, 2008 in Munich).
The survey can be downloaded under www.kpmg.de.
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A clear distinction from the so-called private equity companies is that AURELIUS primarily acquires
businesses undergoing upheaval and in special situations whose performance is often weak and which
require restructuring. It is AURELIUS’s strategy to keep its investments in the medium to long term and
as such, as an industrial holding, to be a reliable partner for both the seller and in particular the busin-
ess being sold – to provide a ‘good home’.

AURELIUS restructures the newly acquired investment companies operatively on site, supported by the
AURELIUS Task Force, made up of managers and functional specialists. By solving the specific operatio-
nal and/or structural problems the investment companies are led back to profitability. Subsequently,
the realigned companies are positioned again in the market as competitive businesses with strong per-
formance.

By contrast the “classical” private equity industry generally aims at optimising profits of the companies
acquired by financial engineering, i.e. through increasing external capital, and above all by a profitable
exit. As a rule the companies are not managed by means of own operative activities, but with the help
of external advisors without having an interest in the long-term success of the business. This monito-
ring process is usually only carried out through the office of supervisory board or advisory board. The
exit, by which means the largest part of the profit is made, is often subject to time pressure as a result
of the funds structure. By contrast AURELIUS is not subject to deinvestment pressure since the purcha-
se price is generally low and financed through equity. The majority of the gains are made by AURELIUS
through the operative restructuring and only an insignificant part by selling the business on.

Overall the private equity companies tend more to be potential purchasers of the companies restruc-
tured by AURELIUS rather than competitors on the purchasing side.

The supply market of AURELIUS will remain stable since the key factors leading to spin-offs from groups
or takeovers of family businesses in line with the AURELIUS model are not influence by an economic
boom. We consider these factors to be:

- The focusing by the large groups on their core businesses
- The financing crises being experienced by many mid-cap businesses as a result of the

restrained loan policies of bank (Basel II mandatory in the EU since 1/1/2007) and
- An increasing number of unresolved successor problems following the demographic 

development in Germany.

When the economy is slowing, the pressure on groups and shareholders to sell increases as a result of
the first two factors mentioned above.

[ ]AURELIUS – 
A „GOOD HOME“ 
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The selling market, that is the demand for restructured businesses with improved performance, fluc-
tuates. As a rule this depends on the economic environment and the prosperity of the individual indu-
stry. Interested parties in the respective industries, that is strategic investors, exist whatever the state
of the economy is. AURELIUS expects an increasing number of interested parties from the private equi-
ty sector, who, based on the restructuring success of AURELIUS, also see further earnings and growth
potential, or who are following ‘buy and build’ strategies.

As such, AURELIUS’s business model works under both weak as well as strong market conditions. Under
weak market conditions there tends to be more businesses in crisis so that the acquisitions are gene-
rally easier than in a prosperous environment. However, the restructuring must then also be carried out
in a more difficult environment. This requires specialist restructuring knowledge which AURELIUS can
provide.

In a positive environment there are fewer businesses in crisis and weaknesses are easier to hide and
acquisition prices can rise. The restructuring itself is much easier in times of economic growth since
sales and profits are boosted by the economic stimulus, the success of the restructuring become evi-
dent more quickly and demand for restructured business grows.

In selecting its targets AURELIUS does not restrict itself to specific industries. AURELIUS prefers to
acquire mid-cap businesses with sales of € 20 million to about € 500 million. By the end of 2007 thir-
teen such companies had been acquired since the founding of the company and another acquisition
was made at the beginning of 2008.

At all stages – from the acquisition, through to the operative management and the restructuring, right
up to the exit – AURELIUS follows the policy of deploying its own employees to carry out, control and,
as such, to bear responsibility for all significant processes. To this end AURELIUS is continuously buil-
ding up know-how in the individual departments by hiring competent staff. This accelerates the neces-
sary decisions and creates a competitive advantage for AURELIUS both in respect of the pre-selection
of interesting target companies and in the operative management.

From the potential of some 400 companies per year, which are offered to AURELIUS through its own
network, directly by groups, by contacts to M&A advisors and investment banks or which the acquisiti-
on department of AURELIUS finds in the market, about 80 make it onto the shortlist. The following due
diligence process is carried out solely by the company’s own personnel from the specialist departments
analysis, legal, tax and finance. This ensures the due diligence is efficient and fast and is of consistent-
ly high quality.

Following acquisition, AURELIUS sends experienced interim managers into the newly acquired compa-
nies in order to implement restructuring together with the employees of the acquired companies wit-
hin the shortest period possible. They are supported strongly by specialist restructuring experts from
various fields such as marketing, personnel, procurement and sales, accounting and similar. Together
they form the AURELIUS task force.
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Depending on the specific situation of the business, various restructuring measures are introduced and
implemented shortly after acquisition. These measures include:

- Analysis of existing and, in many cases, the introduction of modern EDP systems
- Development of new sales and marketing concepts
- Set up new management structures
- negotiatings with banks on waivers and restructuring financing
- Establishment of meaningful supplier relationships with settlement of old liabilities and

possible partial waivers.
- Redundancy plans, agreements with works councils and unions
- Specific devestments
- Improvements in working capital
- Restructuring of production processes
- Replacement of group internal relationships
- Streamlining the production portfolio
- Targeted debt collection or sale of old receivables

Der Wertsteigerungsprozess folgt dabei dem nachstehenden 3-Phasen-Modell:

The 3 phase model for sustainable value enhancement

1 ACQUISITION 3 SALE2 RESTRUCTURING
■ Task Force of more than 20 

restructuring managers

■ Focus on key functional areas 
such as 
- negotiating / purchasing
- process optimization
- sales stimulation

as well as generell restructuring

Ample supply of target
companies

■ Bank lending restitutions (“Basel II”)
■ Succession problems of family 

businesses
■ Large Caps focusing on core 

competencies
■ purchase at rock bottom

Strong exit market due to
continuing strong demand

■ from strategic investors wanting 
their core businesses to grow

■ from financial buyers with 
cheap leverage

After a company has successfully been reorganised the interim manager steps down and hands over
operational responsibility to a new management, trained and put in place by AURELIUS, or passes it
back to the previous management.
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Case study GHOTEL

AURELIUS 
takes over Management
from Deutsche Post AG 

in January 2006 

Deutsche Post Wohnen GmbH
The Company
■ 20 hotels und boarding houses
■ No own buildings

Its issues
■ 81 employees with salaries above 

and working hours below indus-try 
average

■ Annual loss of 2-3 mEUR
■ 80% of employees formerly with 

Deutsche Post
■ Used capacity utilization and room 

rates below average
■ Bureaucratic workforce

GHOTEL GmbH

■ 17 hotels und apartment-buildings 
after sale/closure of unprofitable 
locations

■ Increased direct sales and marketing 
activities

■ Decreased rent expense
■ Lower HR-expenses and more 

experienced personnel
■ Decreased fixed cost
■ Upgrade of certain locations to 

4-star-level planned
■ Annual profit of 2 mEUR (2007) 

The management put in place by AURELIUS usually holds a stake its company on the same terms as
AURELIUS. This allows the management to identify strongly with the company and ensures that moti-
vation is high and commitment is full.

Details on the status of the companies acquired in line with the value chain depicted above are provi-
ded from page 26 onwards.
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenKey financial ratios on net assets, financial position 
and results of operations of the AURELIUS Group

(k€)

(k€)

S&S IP RCP Andere Total2006

Sales 64,435 114,608 136,435 1,258 316,736

Sales* 67,000 240,000 340,000 2,000 649,000

Employees** (Number) 407 1,267 1,115 11 2,800

Sales* per employee** 158 90 122 114 113

EBITDA 6,431 46,595 18,443 833 72,302

1,515 29,611 14,270 1,670 47,065

– 344 – – 344

Earnings per share – – – – 5,43

Assets 32,506 142,237 145,682 11,264 331,689

Liabilities 32,984 107,520 130,461 -14,720 256,245

Equity*** – – – 75,444 75,444

Equity ratio*** (%) – – – – 23%

2007

*annualised, estimated, ** balance at year-end, ***incl. minority interests

Sales

Sales*

Employees** (Number)

Sales* per employee**

EBITDA

Earnings per share

Assets

Liabilities

Equity***

Equity ratio*** (%)

S&S IP RCP Andere Total

21,713

83,683

659

127

4,216

1,368

571

0,23

62,531

50,973

11,558

19%

182

243

2

121

-384

-330

–

–

4,181

1,015

11,558

–

9,040

30,447

261

117

1,948

463

571

–

32,967

30,828

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

12,492

52,993

396

134

2,652

1,235

–

–

25,382

19,130

–

–

Results of discontinued
operations

Net income for the year 
(continuing operations)

Results of discontinued
operations

Net income for the year 
(continuing operations)
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Business development from 
January 1 to December 31, 2007
Following the very successful founding year of AURELIUS AG in 2006 the company made further progress
in all areas in the past financial year 2007. Eight new companies were acquired and one company was sold
so that the portfolio constituted twelve companies at year-end.

Sales and results of operations
Around 43 % or k€ 136,435 of the sales of AURELIUS are attributable to the division Retail & Consumer
Products (RCP), of which k€ 119,483 relates to Quelle France and k€ 14,996 to Pohland k€ 114,608 (prior
year k€ 9,040) 36% (prior year 42%) of sales were attributable to the ‘Industrial Production’ division, with
Wellman contributing k€ 45,786 (prior year k€ 0), Schabmüller k€ 32,209 (prior year k€ 0), Scherpe k€

12,075 (prior year k€ 4,881) and Schleicher k€ 8,750 (prior year k€ 0).The Services & Solutions division was
responsible for 20 % (prior year 58 %) of total sales or k€ 64,435 (prior year k€ 12,492) from all business
divisions of k€ 316,736 (prior year k€ 21,713), with k€ 24,478 (prior year k€ 8,337) from Logistik, k€ 24,314
(prior year k€ 0) from KWE and k€ 15,642 (prior year k€ 4.155) from GHOTEL. It should be noted here that
the sales and the results of the companies purchased during the year are included in the consolidated
financial statements only from the date of the first consolidation and therefore only on a proportional
basis. Up to the time of deconsolidation sales revenue of k€ 10,957 (prior year k€ 4,159) was achieved in
the discontinued operations relating to the IP division. Annualising these figures would give rise to group
sales of € 650 million.

Other operating income amounts to k€ 82,843 (prior year k€ 3,724) and includes the release of negative
differences of k€ 59,286 (prior year k€ 1,148). Of this k€ 2,511 (prior year k€ 1.872) is attributable to discon-
tinued operations.

The cost of materials totaling k€ 156,417 relates primarily to Quelle France with k€ 54,791 (prior year k€

0), Wellman with k€ 27,828 (prior year k€ 0), Schabmüller with k€ 15,907 (prior year k€ 0), KWE with k€

13,758 (prior year k€ 0), Logistik with k€ 9,807 (prior year k€ 3,116), and k€ 5,221 (prior year 2,312) relates to
discontinued operations.

Of the personnel expenses in the group totaling k€ 70,963 (prior year k€ 7,318), k€ 16,757 (prior year k€ 0)
relates to Quelle France, k€ 9,861 (prior year k€ 0) to Schabmüller, k€ 9,343 to Wellman (prior year k€ 0),
k€ 8,116 to Logistik, k€ 6,651 to KWE and k€ 4,568 (prior year k€ 1,854) to discontinued operations; they
relate primarily to wages and salaries.

The consolidated net income for the year after minority interests amounts to k€ 48,266 (prior year k€

1,939), with discontinued operations contributing k€ 344 (prior year k€ 571). This corresponds to earnings
per share of € 5.43 (prior year € 0.23; adjusted for stock split 1:14). Earnings before interest, tax, deprecia-
tion and amortisation (EBITDA) from all business divisions amounted to k€ 72,302 (prior year k€ 4,216;
proportion attributable to discontinued operations k€ 1,683; prior year k€ 1,283).
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Net assets and financial position
The successful acquisitions were clearly reflected in the balance sheet total which rose to k€ 331,689 (prior
year k€ 62,531) At year-end. It consists primarily of long-term assets (k€ 114,280; prior year k€ 37,155), con-sti-
tuting in the main AURELIUS‘s property, plant and equipment of k€ 73,710 (prior year k€ 30,818), intangible
assets (k€ 14,405; prior year k€ 5,636) and financial assets of (k€ 20,450; prior year k€ 11).The intangible fixed
assets relate mainly to customer bases, brands and licenses of the investment companies.

The current assets consist mainly of trade receivables k€ 51,237 (prior year k€ 9,133), cash and cash equiva-
lents (k€ 38,949; prior year k€ 8,250) and inventories (k€ 87,629; prior year k€ 6,822).

Liabilities relate primarily to trade payables (k€ 87,565; prior year k€ 6,520), financial liabilities (k€ 45,498;
prior year k€ 20,282), restructuring provisions (k€ 14,105; prior year k€ 1,139) pension obligations (k€ 12,850;
prior year k€ 8,144), other provisions (k€ 19,795; prior year k€ 2,585) and other liabilities (k€ 63,215; prior year
k€ 9,350).

Equity reflects above all the effects of the capital measures carried out in August 2007 in the form of a capi-
tal increase from company funds with subsequent stock split of 1:14, and the capital reserves of k€ 8,878
(prior year k€ 8,701) resulting from the capital increase. The equity ratio stands at 23 % (prior year 19 % incl.
minority interests).

Risk and opportunities report /
Risk management objectives and methods

Summary of the risk factors and opportunities
The company is exposed to a number of risks.The most significant risks and the related opportunities spe-
cific to AURELIUS are described below.

General economic risks and opportunities

Economic factors
The general economic situation and the economic development in the markets in which AURELIUS opera-
tes, or will operate, effect the business development of AURELIUS. In times of worsening economic condi-
tions and in a recession there is a greater risk of companies going into crisis. A positive aspect of this is that
there are more companies available for sale. The choice of companies in special situations should therefo-
re be wider for AURELIUS under these economic circumstances. However, the restructuring of the invest-
ment companies is then more difficult in a weak economic environment. It is also harder to sell a restruc-
tured company since companies react in a more restrained manner in purchasing considerations and it
cannot therefore be ruled out that an investment company can only be sold at a discount.

Portfolio and industry
In selecting its portfolio investments AURELIUS does not specialise in certain industries or regions. In its
choice of company the chances of a turnaround and the future prospects of a company form the paramo-
unt selection criteria.
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AURELIUS attempts to counteract the risks associated with economic fluctuation of individual companies,
industries and regions in the investment portfolio through diversification.
It cannot be ruled out that the economic development of a future investment is affected by a downturn
in the market of a specific industry which could then lead to the insolvency of the company, without the
management of the investment company being able to prevent this.

This must be distinguished from the specific industry risk for private equity companies such as AURELIUS.
It is conceivable that, for example, new competitors in the market could lead to an increase in demand for
companies in special situations and consequently a rise in acquisition prices.

Competition and access to attractive investment companies
An important factor for AURELIUS’s operations is a sufficient number of attractive investment opportuni-
ties. It is vital for the company to get to know of acquisition opportunities. First and foremost the compa-
ny makes use of existing connections to agents, groups and other potential sellers. As a result of the
greater financial strength of some of AURELIUS’s competitors, competition for an investment can mean
that AURELIUS must pay a higher price for the company or may not be in a position to buy the company
at all. If the supply of attractive investments or AURELIUS’s access to such investment worsens, or does not
develop as AURELIUS expects, or AURELIUS has to pay higher prices as a result of the competition, this will
affect general operations and the future growth of AURELIUS, reduce profitability and consequently have
a negative effect on the net assets, the financial position and on the earnings of the company overall.
AURELIUS’s transparent concept and the experienced and effective team represent a competitive advan-
tage which proved its worth in the past year with AURELIUS being able to prevail in numerous cases.

Financial risks and opportunities
Interest rate changes
AURELIUS intends to invest available financial assets in the capital markets in the ordinary course of busi-
ness. Fluctuations in interest rates can lead to a fall in the value of the financial assets of the company
which would then have a negative effect on the company. Furthermore, the company is exposed to the risk
that it may not be able to convert those financial assets consisting of minority holdings into liquid assets
should this become necessary, so that the liquidating of such financial assets could lead to a loss.
On the other hand the level and movement of interest rates can also affect AURELIUS’s financing costs.
This depends on the extent to which general financing requirements have to be financed externally, on
the existing interest rates and the fixed terms of any loans. Rising interest rates also affect the financing
cost of the investment companies which can affect the restructuring, the distributions and also the sell-
ing opportunities adversely. The planned introduction of a central cash management system is designed
to counteract and minimise these risks.

Foreign currency and exchange rates
Foreign currency and exchange rate risk can arise if, for example, investment companies are purchased
from foreign shareholders and paid in foreign currency, if investment companies conduct foreign opera-
tions, or if investment companies hold foreign subsidiaries. The vast majority of AURELIUS’s sales, profits
and expenses is currently attributable to the European monetary union (euro zone).The company is there-
fore relatively independent of movements in exchange rates.
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Company-specific risks and opportunities
Risks and opportunities associated with the business model
AURELIUS’s activities include the acquisition, restructuring and sale of businesses. AURELIUS focuses on
companies undergoing upheaval and in special situations with strong earnings potential. In selecting its
portfolio investments AURELIUS does not specialise in certain industries. The success of the business
model depends rather more on the company’s ability to identify suitable companies, to purchase these at
reasonable prices and then to sell them after a successful turnaround.

Selection of investment companies
The acquisition of investment companies normally carries a not inconsiderable business risk. It cannot be
ruled out that risks have not been recognized or have been misinterpreted. In particular risks consist of the
misinterpretation of the future prospects of a business or its potential for restructuring, or the fact that
liabilities, obligations or other encumbrances of the investment company were not known or identified at
the time of the purchase, despite careful examination. A misinterpretation of the attainable market posi-
tion, the earnings potential, the profitability, growth opportunities or other key factors would have conse-
quences for the profitability of the investment. The company’s profitability could also suffer from impair-
ment losses on purchased goodwill or other assets. On the other hand it is just such businesses in special
situations which possess often undiscovered and unused earnings potential, which can be accessed by
specific management decisions.

Growth management
A key factor for the future success of AURELIUS is the considerable experience of the members of the man-
agement board. The planned growth of AURELIUS is, however, also dependent on the company having
access to an adequate number of persons for acquisitions, restructuring and the operative management
of the investment companies. In particular the restructuring of businesses in crisis places the highest
demands on the manager or managers responsible. It is vital for the success of the business model to have
qualified internal or external personnel with industry practical experience and a great deal of manage-
ment skills. However, with its good reputation, experience and coherent concept AURELIUS has the oppor-
tunity of accessing the best in the market.

Effective controlling of the investment companies and AURELIUS
A major step in restructuring an investment company is the implementation of an effective controlling
system which can provide the new management with the appropriate information to improve the cost
and earnings position. If the respective management does not succeed in installing such a system prompt-
ly, the success of the restructuring can be endangered. The management of the investment companies
provides the directors of AURELIUS early on with information on adverse developments in the investment
companies so that countermeasures can be taken in time. However, there is still the risk that the compa-
ny is only informed with delay or incompletely on the development and the occurrences at the investment
company. It is then possible that measures cannot be taken, or only taken with delay, which consequently
affects the development of the investment company adversely or even, under certain circumstances, puts
the value of the investment company at risk.
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Implementation / adjustment of organisational structures
Following the commencement of operations last year, the planned expansion of the group has been car-
ried out through the acquisition of investment companies and the implementation and adjustment of
organisational, personnel-related and technical structures. Measures have already been taken in account-
ing and controlling designed to improve the organisational and informational structures and therefore to
address the requirements the development of the company has brought with it; these will continue. As
such, the existing uniform electronic reporting and consolidation system at parent company level, which
was also implemented at all the investment companies, meets the highest standards regarding the qual-
ity, reliability and timely access of accounting-related data.The involvement of further qualified personnel
has, and will address the needs of business expansion.

Risk of failure of the restructuring
AURELIUS’s aim is to restructure an investment company as quickly as possible in order to keep the oper-
ative losses after acquisition as low as possible, and then in the medium-term to received income in the
form of dividends and to achieve a profit on the sale of the company. It is not impossible for the restruc-
turing attempts and the managers installed at the investment company to fail. There are numerous rea-
sons why an investment company does not become profitable. As a final consequence this means the
insolvency of the company. In this case AURELIUS would lose the funds it deployed to purchase (including
secondary purchase costs), to run and possibly to finance the investment company. However, any such loss
is often cut by the restructuring contribution made by the seller, being reflected in the difference between
the book value and the purchase price of the investment. Furthermore, as a matter of principle, AURELIUS
does not set up any profit and loss transfer agreements or cash pooling with the subsidiaries and does not
provide any guarantees or similar security in their favour. For these reasons the effects of failure of any
restructuring on the respective subsidiary is limited.

Selling investment companies
The company can realise profits on the sale of an investment company to private, institutional or industri-
al investors or through an IPO. However, AURELIUS can provide no guarantee as to whether the sale can
be made at a profit or at what yield. In particular both the economic climate and the condition of the cap-
ital markets, but also unforeseen factors can have a significant effect on the sales proceeds. In times of a
poor economic and/or industry environment, or weak financial markets, a sale may not be possible at all,
or only at a great discount. Even if the investment company fairs well there is the risk that a reasonable
price is unattainable due to the poor environment in the economy, industry and/or financial markets. By
contrast a booming economy can favour the earnings of the investment company and as such affect the
future sales price.
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Reports from the group companies
Reports on our investment companies are presented in the following section in the order in which they
were acquired. As of December 31, 2007, the following eleven companies belonged to the AURELIUS
Group:

DFA-Transport
und Logistik GmbH
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DFA – Transport und Logistik GmbH („DFA“)

DFA-Transport
und Logistik GmbH

Purchase date: July 2006

Homepage: www.dfa-logistik.de

Industry and activities
DFA, a special logistics company, has many years of experience in rendering construc-
tion logistics services, with a focus on supplying and dismantling construction sites in
the fields of civil engineering, mining and demolition. A special focus is the removal of
slightly radioactive waste. Among its customers are the public authorities and major
construction companies.

Business development during the past year
The reorganization measures introduced were implemented successively and consis-
tently throughout the year. Among other things, the company-wide cost savings pro-
gram and the implementation of modern computer systems were successfully com-
pleted by the end of the year. The increased sales activities in the domestic market and
in Austria and Eastern Europe have begun to bear fruit. For example, DFA has won a
long-term contract for specialized transport services under the Private Public
Partnership for the 6-lane extension of the A8 motorway (Munich-Augsburg).
Furthermore, an existing master agreement for municipal services with a key cus-
tomer was renewed. In 2007 a further 60 dumper trucks and two municipal vehicles
were purchased. Various measures were introduced to recruit and train qualified per-
sonnel, in particular drivers, for example improved cooperation with the local employment centers and
driving schools.

Outlook
In the current year 22 dumper trucks will be replaced. In addition another 38 dumper trucks and 2
municipal vehicles are to be added to the vehicle fleet.

Project diversification and acquisition of additional customers in Germany and abroad (in particular in
the Czech Republic, Poland and Austria) are still among the most important strategic goals of the com-
pany. For example, opportunities could present themselves to DFA regarding the dismantling of nuclear
power stations as a result of its sound experience in transporting slightly radio active waste. Recruiting
drivers remains a major task.
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Quote from the manager of the group company
“DFA is an ideal partner for specialist transport services on large projects, above all because of its size. We

have proved this on more than on occasion with our quality and reliability. This success will continue una-

bated in 2008.”
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Richard Scherpe Group („Scherpe“)
Purchase date: August 2006

Homepage: www.scherpe.de

Industry and activities
Scherpe is a specialised printing group operating from three sites. It specializes in
labels and forms. Their services include the electronic import of data and logistics
appropriate to the business process, right up to the delivery of the goods.

Business development during the past year
The restructuring measures were implemented during the past year and largely com-
pleted. Amongst other things these included: product diversification, structural
staffing adjustments, portfolio adjustments regarding customer base with the intro-
duction of automatic controlling procedures, synergy effects on overheads through
the centralization of areas of responsibility and growth measures with the expansion
of sales (organic growth) and acquisitions (external growth).

In particular the second half of 2007 focused on the growth of the group. This proved
difficult, above all, because the reduction in staffing levels was slower than planned.
At the end of the year the position of sales director was filled with a new candidate.
Stiff price competition continues in the printing industry. Consequently it was not pos-
sible to pass on rises in wages and materials as need would dictate. Scherpe posi-
tioned itself more strongly as an innovative niche supplier in the past year. The Norderstedt site began
to specialise in the services which are traditionally downstream of classical printing, such as logistics,
distribution and billing, since these sectors are more profitable than traditional printing.

Outlook
Growth will be the main focus of attention in the current year. A significant step will be the expansion
of the sales force. External growth in the form of acquisitions will however also be targeted. Düren will
continue to pursue targeted diversification of the customer base. Norderstedt will expand the services
downstream of classical printing further. Krefeld will concentrate on label solutions, clothes rack mar-
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kers and voting cards In particular, Scherpe aims at extending its leading position in lucrative clothes
rack markers. Another important objective is to pass on the price increases in the raw materials and in
personnel costs to customers.

Group management report

Quote from the manager of the group company
"Our greatest goal for 2008 is: Growth. The size of the company in the atomized printing market is a sig-

nificant competitive advantage - as is strong specialization."
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Purchase date: September 2006

Homepage: www.ghotel.de

Industry and activities
The GHOTEL Group operates 15 hotels and apartment buildings in central locations in
major German cities such as Hamburg, Hanover, Frankfurt, Stuttgart and Munich, and
offers an array of services from modern business and leisure hotels, through confer-
ence centers, right up to modern temporary living space.

Business development during the past year
Following a loss in 2006, GHOTEL Group made profits in the reporting period.
The regorganisation measures introduced led to sustainable success. It became clear
that the route chosen of becoming a hotel chain was the right one. As part of the reor-
ganization the closure of two unprofitable apartment buildings in Dusseldorf and
Neu-Isenburg was necessary. In order to fulfill the expectations of guests of a hotel
chain, master agreements were concluded with numerous suppliers, for example,
across all the hotels and apartment buildings. As such all the hotels and apartment
buildings are now equipped with the same high quality hotel laundry and the same
bathroom articles. This helps to improve the guests' recognition value, which plays an
important role in hotel chains.

In order to improve the quality of service, management decided to use its own person-
nel to provide the catering in GHOTEL Velbert/Essen. This proved so successful that the decision was
taken to introduce this from 2008 at GHOTEL Hanover - the largest hotel in the group. This led not only
to significant cost savings but also created numerous new jobs. Overall 22 new members of staff were
hired by the GHOTEL Group in the financial year 2007. Staff leaving the company were consistently
replace by qualified professional staff, with long-standing experience in hotel chains and sound know-
how.

Outlook
There are plans to increase degree of awareness of the GHOTEL Group in the market and to reflect this
in a rise in the occupancy ratio. This is to be achieved through target marketing activities and by open-
ing new sites. Therefore, a major goal for 2008 is the expansion of the portfolio with attractive sites

GHOTEL Group („GHOTEL“)

Allgemeiner Teil 3
Konzernlagebericht 12
Corporate Governance 53
Konzern-Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung 57
Konzernbilanz 58
Konzern-Kapitalflussrechnung 60
Konzern-Eigenkapitalentwicklung 62
Anhang zum Konzernabschluss 64
Impressum 124



Translation of the German Report

32

and to increase the number of hotel rooms at existing locations.

One component of the marketing activities in 2008 will be attendance of travel fairs on a regular basis
to present GHOTEL's services to travel agents.
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Quote from the manager of the group company
"After having freed the company past encumberances and having professionalised operations significant-

ly the company has become profitable and is earning good profits. The success of the business is to be

secured and increase with meaningful expansion of the portfolio or through strategic partnerships."
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Purchase date: December 2006 

Homepage: www.kwe-stahlbau.de 

Industry and activities
KWE is a market leader in Germany in specialist steel construction services, working
predominantly for the chemicals and petrochemicals industries. KWE also supplies the
pharmaceutical and energy industries.

KWE Services includes the maintenance and repair of the steel structures in industri-
al plants. KWE Steel builds steel constructions in the chemicals and oil industries and
in the pharmaceutical industry. KWE Engineering, established in the reporting year;
advises, plans and designs all kinds of steel construction projects.
KWE also includes architecturally challenging projects in its range of services (such as
Phantasialand in Brühl). KWE's main customers include all the leading chemical and
petrochemical companies in Germany such as BASF, Bayer, Shell, Evonik/Degussa,
Merck, Sanofi Aventis, Clariant.

Business development during the past year
Growth in sales was highly satisfactory. The 2007 sales targets were well exceeded in
all the business divisions. All the master agreements which were open to negotiation
in the reporting year were renewed. In addition, KWE won a major project from Bayer
CropScience for 1,500 tons of steel construction valued at over € 4 million.
A significant move was the changes in KWE's management. Amongst other things two long-standing
top performers of the KWE Group were appointed to the management board. In addition a long-term
union contract with IG Metall was concluded for the company. This company-specific contract consti-
tutes a major contribution by the employees to KWE'S sustainable long-term competitiveness.
Other measures implemented in the past year included, amongst other things, the implementation of
a financial accounting system independent of the former parent company in the form of an independ-
ent ERP system, and the introduction of better controlling instruments which allow the business to be
controlled in a more exact, transparent and faster manner. The new financial accounting system in par-
ticular incurred one-off costs. In addition, as part of the introduction of the new accounting system the
major business risks were re-evaluated more comprehensively.
Price pressure continues to be high in material procurement. This, together with the external person-
nel costs (temporary workers) will lead to a latent reduction in margins.

KWE Group („KWE“)
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In addition bottlenecks at the processing businesses downstream restrict the growth of KWE Steel.

Outlook
Major tasks during this year include the improvement in margins as part of the contract renewals
2008, and the strengthening of the market leadership through acquisitions of new master agreements
and major projects. In addition KWE will improve its services for existing customers with sales being
supported by engineering services. The internal organization at KWE Steel is also to be realigned more
in line with sales. In addition the internal processes will be optimized - above all by means of network-
ing cross-site - and expenses are to be reduced further.

Generally speaking, the stable economic position in the energy and chemical industry form a sound
basis for a healthy development in business.

Quote from the manager of the group company
"KWE is market leader in the sector of specialized steel constructions for the chemical industry. As a result

of the good positioning of the company, a competitive cost structure and the willingness of our customers

to continue to invest in German sites in the chemical industry, KWE is well-placed to achieve good ear-

nings in the coming years."
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Purchase date: March 2007

Homepage: www.schabmueller.de

Industry and activities
Schabmüller GmbH (formerly Sauer Danfoss (Berching) GmbH) is an international
leading manufacturer of electric drive systems. It focuses on the development, produc-
tion and sales of direct current (DC) and alternating current (AC) motors, in particular
for forklifts and yachts, generators and components for hybrid systems. Complete sys-
tems are also produced, being made up of engine, gears, steering and control electron-
ics. All the products on offer have been specially developed for customers. The main
customers include all major producers of industrial vehicles (forklifts, warehouse vehi-
cles, etc.), suppliers of AGVs (automated guided vehicles) to equip automated factories,
and manufacturers of ships (mainly traversal bow thruster and rear thruster) as well
as producers of agricultural machinery.

Business development during the past year
Schabmüller successfully pressed ahead with the development of innovative technol-
ogy in the reporting year. Amongst other things a state-of-the-art automated produc-
tion line for AC machines was built. This allows serial production of AC machines
enabling customers with large volumes to be supplied. Serial production commenced
successfully in the fourth quarter.

Another key area was the optimization of internal processes (e.g. planning processes for production)
designed to reduce lead time and increase supply loyalty. In addition costs were reduced by optimizing
procurement (amongst other things by buying in the Far East) and general cost-saving measures imple-
mented. An environment certification process is underway in accordance with "QuB" as a forerunner to
ISO 14001 certification.

Schabmüller benefits from a constantly high level of utilisation; this can only be compensated to a lim-
ited extent by investing in machines and additional personnel. Therefore a foreign site was founded in
the Czech Republic in order to increase capacity. The business has a sound financial position with a pos-
itive cash flow.

Schabmüller Group („Schabmüller“) 
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Outlook
In the current year quality management will be improved. In addition the internal processes will be
optimized further. With regard to procurement, costs are to be reduced even further with procurement
being conducted via the Czech group company. In addition, further capital expenditure is planned to
alleviate bottlenecks.

In general, sales activities will be strengthened. Moreover, new production areas are to be established,
such as direct drives, and new technologies developed, e.g. in the area of "permanent magnet motors",
which are used in hybrid technology.

Group management report

Allgemeiner Teil 3
Konzernlagebericht 12
Corporate Governance 53
Konzern-Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung 57
Konzernbilanz 58
Konzern-Kapitalflussrechnung 60
Konzern-Eigenkapitalentwicklung 62
Anhang zum Konzernabschluss 64
Impressum 124

Quote from the manager of the group company
"Schabmüller is showing promising growth. In order to continue this route it is important to continue the

activities begun in new markets. We are setting the course for this." 
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Purchase date: July 2007

Homepages: www.quelle.fr sowie www.cdgp.fr

Industry and activities
Quelle S.A.S. constitutes two subsidiaries: the first is Quelle La Source SA, the fourth
largest mail order company in France and the second is the specialist bank Compagnie
de Gestion et des Prêts (CDGP).
The product range of Quelle La Source SA includes more than 40,000 products in the
categories apparel, household goods, health and beauty care. However, the main focus
lies on fashion and home goods.
CDGP, in which AURELIUS holds a 50 % interest, specialises in consumer credit and prop-
erty insurance. It originated from the consumer credit business of the French Quelle
mail order business. Today CDGP conducts operations largely independent of this, in
particular in small loans and credit cards.

Business development during the past year since acquisition
Quelle La Source SA: in a difficult market comprehensive cost-cutting measures were
implemented first. In particular personnel costs were reduced in a socially acceptable
manner by introducing models for flexible working hours. In addition the local manage-
ment team has been streamlined. The positioning of the product was also redefined. Quelle fashion
should be "sexy et glamoureux à petit prix » (sexy and glamorous for a small price). As part of the repo-
sitioning, adjustments were made to the product portfolio so that Quelle has specialized increasingly
in fashion and home textiles.

CDGP: The number of borrowers and the volume of loans increased significantly during the past year.
This was largely due to the new offers for small loans and credit cards, and the arrangement of insur-
ance policies.

Quelle S.A.S. („Quelle“)
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Outlook 

Quelle La Source SA: The cost-saving measures will continue and the repositioning of the brand in the
market will be pursued further. Logistics and order processing are to be outsourced in order to increa-
se Quelle's flexibility further. With regard to buying, more emphasis is to be placed on suppliers of
collections in order to make Quelle's product range more diversified and attractive. There are plans to
improve the internet business, enabling this to become the key sales focus of the business in the medi-
um term.

CDGP: Both the credit card business and the arrangement of insurance are to be pursued further. In
addition CDGP wants to extend its range of innovative customer loyalty programs, in particular for mail
order companies.

Quote from the manager of the group company
"2008 will be a year of dramatic change for Quelle France: away from the traditional universal mail order

business towards a focused range of products in the mail order and financial services field."
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Purchase date: July 2007

Homepage: www.schleicher-electronic.com

Industry and activities
Located in Berlin, Schleicher develops and manufactures highly efficient control sys-
tems for machine tools. Schleicher stands apart from it competitors in that
Schleicher's control systems combine expiration, motion control and numerical con-
trols in one system. Working closely with the user, the company implements individual
solutions using so-called application engineering, i.e. the development of control sys-
tems with the customer; these solutions range from the individual automating com-
ponent through to the customer-specific complete concept.

Business development during the past year since acquisition
Restructuring measures were introduced right after the acquisition of the company
and a realignment strategy worked out. For example, expenses were reduced signifi-
cantly, research and development established as a strategic area, a sustainable strate-
gy for marketing and sales was developed; development and strategy functions used
to be conducted by the former parent company. In addition management began posi-
tioning Schleicher as a niche supplier of individual customer solutions.

The organisation of the company has been simplified with the aim of speeding up all
processes. 'Research & Development' was established as an independent division. In
the meantime 'Marketing & Export' and 'Sales Germany' are also independent. The sig-
nificance Schleicher attaches to the home market is evidenced by the fact that 'Sales Germany' has a
new head of sales.

Schleicher, as a systems provider for machine tools and specialist machine tools, profited from the
boom in the machine tools industry in 2007. The sound market environment in combination with the
measure implemented successfully has led to a significant improvement in the orders received since
being taken over by AURELIUS.

Schleicher Electronic GmbH & Co. KG („Schleicher”)



Translation of the German Report

40

Group management report

Allgemeiner Teil 3
Konzernlagebericht 12
Corporate Governance 53
Konzern-Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung 57
Konzernbilanz 58
Konzern-Kapitalflussrechnung 60
Konzern-Eigenkapitalentwicklung 62
Anhang zum Konzernabschluss 64
Impressum 124

Outlook
The implemented restructuring measures will continue. Key goals for 2008 relate to sales. Amongst
other things, greater emphasis will be placed on the sales strategy, domestic sales strengthened and
foreign markets established initially in Italy, Switzerland and Holland. In addition research and develop-
ment work is to be increased.
The planned expenditure on personnel, technology, sales and development will affect profits. Despite
the high level of capital expenditure and the start-up costs, in particular in sales, profits are expected
together with an increase in sales.

Quote from the manager of the group company
"In the medium term Schleicher will establish itself as a niche supplier of specialist solutions for machine

tools in the domestic and foreign markets, and will experience strong rises in sales and profits."
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Purchase date: July 2007

Homepage: www.wellman-intl.com

Industry and activities
Wellman International Limited is market leader in the manufacture of polyester stable
fibres (PSF), and at the same time Europe's largest recycler of non-returnable PET bot-
tles. The company purchases used non-returnable PET bottles - approximately 10% of
all European bottles collected. The bottles are cleaned and shredded at two recycling
plants in Spijk, Holland,and Verdun, France. The largest portion (approx. 80%) of these
processed materials (r-PET) is processed further to polyester stable fibres (PSF) at its
own production plant at Wellman's headquarters in Mullagh, Ireland. The remaining
20% of r-PET materials are sold to the packaging industry. Wellman then supplies its
customers, such as diaper and furniture manufacturers, or producers of automotive
casings, with PSF.

Business development during the past year since acquisition
In general, the market for PSF is marked by worldwide over capacity. In particular the
Asian suppliers are putting continuous pressure on prices, which led to further falls in
commodity prices over the course of the year. This accelerated the consolidation
process amongst the European PSF producers. In this environment Wellman was suc-
cessful in strengthening its market position, in particular through its 'Performance
Improvement Program'. This program included strict cost-cutting measures and effi-
ciency improvement measures in production, which resulted in improvements in production volume
and quality. The sales offensive commenced in 2007 resulted in numerous new customers. Test deliver-
ies are currently underway with several potential new large customers, which could lead to new sales
in specialized premium segments in 2008. After adjusting the product range the current range focus-
es on core products in growth segments (e.g. hygiene articles). In addition to this - as a result of the
reduction in working capital by more than 10 % - the internal financing ratio rose significantly.

Capital expenditure designed to enlarge the recycling plants in Verdun and Spijk was carried out,
increasing capacity by some 20 %. At the same time the quality of the recycled materials, the so-called
r-PET, improved significantly. Being able to use high quality r-PET reduces dependency on the price
movements in the raw materials markets further. Sales of r-PET to the packaging industry grew further
in the reporting year and will make a significant contribution to the improvement in profits in 2008. In

Wellman International Limited („Wellman“)
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Holland and Belgium new contracts were concluded on the supply of used PET bottles for the recycling
plants. As such, despite the general increase in demand for used PET bottles, it was possible to ensure
the supply of PET bottles in the longer term.

Outlook
Further reductions in costs are to be made. At the same time the company aims at greater improve-
ment in the quality of the PSF production. The utilisation of raw materials will be optimized by increa-
sing the proportion of r-PET and by replacing expensive raw materials. The successful start of the sales
offensive to gain new product and market segments will continue. Further measures will be taken to
adjust the product portfolio. Capital requirements with regard to working capital will continue to be
reduced. In addition, there are plans to invest in new production technology in the recycling plants to
increase capacity and efficiency. Moreover, sales activities will be strengthened with regard to sales of
r-PET to the packaging industry.

Quote from the manager of the group company
"Despite a competitive environment, Wellman succeeded in achieving its ambitious goals in 2007. At the

same time the company set the course for gaining new customers and markets, and for an improvement

in cost management."
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Purchase date: October 2007

Homepage: www.pohland.de

Industry and activities
Pohland, a high-class men's outfitter in the market for 50 years, operates nine fashion
stores in North Rhine- Westphalia, Lower Saxony, Hessen and Rhineland-Palatinate.

Business development during the past year since acquisition
The company's position in the reporting year prior to the acquisition by AURELIUS was
marked by strong falls in sales and gross profit. Under the restructuring, which AURELIUS
initiated immediately following the takeover in October 2007, work commenced on iden-
tifying the reasons for the losses and eliminating these. Two branches with poor fore-
casts were closed, stock drastically reduced, the personnel structure aligned to the company's economic
position and the range of products streamlined. Overall there was a slight improvement in results of oper-
ations even only after a few weeks. The marketing activities introduced are aimed at making a name for
itself in the market as a supplier of sophisticated, ever up-to-date ranges of clothes, from well-known
manufacturers, which are excellent value-for-money. The key elements in Pohland's marketing are
addressing the target group precisely, first-class locations in well-frequented micro-sites, and attractive
sales areas aligned to the range of clothes.

Outlook
As a result of the measures initiated, according to the budget the company will make profits for the first
time in four years in financial year 2008. Following the adjustments to costs, the focus now lies on increas-
ing gross profit and expansion. In this regard a new member of the management board was appointed
who is responsible for sales and marketing. Positioning Pohland in the market remains a major goal. In
addition to the target of increasing sales on the existing areas, four new branches will be opened in the
current year in Bremen, Hanover, Cologne and Duisburg.

Pohland Herrenkleidung GmbH & Co. KG („Pohland“)

Quote from the manager of the group company
"The symptoms were identified and countermeasures initiated.The aim now, in 2008, is to eliminate the remai-

ning causes of the problem in order to position Pohland in the market with sustainable earnings."
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Purchase date: November 2007

Homepage: www.einhorn.de

Industry and activities
EINHORN is a leading supplier of exclusive high-class men's shirts and women's blous-
es. The company has an 80-year history in manufacturing shirts and blouses. Highest
quality, textile innovation and fashion statements characterize EINHORN products - a
passion for shirts and blouses. In addition, EINHORN shirts and blouses are distin-
guished by distinctive design and careful attention to detail. In 2007 the brand EIN-
HORN celebrated its 50th anniversary.
In addition to the brand EINHORN, licensed products are also manufactured - for Tommy
Hilfinger, for example.

Business development during the past year since acquisition
At the time of the takeover, EINHORN's main problems included poor financial resources, a backlog of cap-
ital expenditure and deficits in internal processes. Mid-tier management was too weakly developed. Many
important functions within the business were carried out by external advisors. With regard to sales there
was strong dependency on German specialist retail shops. Following the takeover by AURELIUS, general
short and medium term reorganization measures were initiated and new sources of finance established
with additional banks. Business relationships with the key license partners were strengthened.The adjust-
ments to the operational and organizational structure currently underway to bring these into line with the
current market requirements and the size of the business are designed to make EINHORN more efficient
and enable it to react more quickly to the challenges and changes in the market. A further key account is
to be gained, as is another export market. This will significantly reduced dependency on German special-
ist retailers.

EINHORN Mode Manufaktur GmbH & Co. KG 
(formerly Zeeb & Hornung GmbH & Co.) („EINHORN“)
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Outlook
The strategic realignment is aimed in particular at positioning the EINHORN brand more strongly in the
premium segment and at the expansion of sales channels. The new blouse collection presented in 2007 is
to be successfully established with retailers. The cost-cutting measures initiated will continue. In the cur-
rent financial year sales are expected to grow and profits improve.

Quote from the manager of the group company
"EINHORN is a brand with a very good image and excellent products, which unfortunately has fallen

somewhat into oblivion. We want to position EINHORN where the brand belongs: in the high quality shirt

and blouse premium segment."
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Purchase date: November 2007

Homepage: www.westfalia-van.de

Industry and activities
WVC has over 50 years of experience in fitting out leisure vehicles. Automobile manufac-
turers (so-called OEMs), such as Mercedes-Benz, Ford and Opel, contract WVC to equip
the existing vans to turn them into leisure vehicles (e.g. camper vans "James Cook" and
"Marco Polo" from Mercedes-Benz).WVC is market leader in this segment in Germany. In
addition to the work carried out for the OEMs, the leisure vehicle manufacturer began
to develop its own camper vans in 2007 and to market these using its own sales chan-
nels. For example, the model "Big Nugget" and, from Spring 2008, the re-issue of the cult
model "Sven Hedin", which was built over 4000 times between 1975 and 1995.

Business development during the past year since acquisition
WVC's main business is fitting out vans to turn them into camper vans as contracted by
OEMs. Therefore, the current business situation denotes a strong dependency on a few
large customers. As a result the measures initiated consist primarily of reducing this
dependency, in addition to the general strict cost-cutting program. As such, among other
things, the development of new models of the company's own was forced (models "Sven
Hedin" and "Big Nugget"). Accordingly, work commenced on expanding the company's
own sales channels in Germany and in Europe through training activities for the exist-

ing employees and by hiring additional staff. In addition,WVC wants to acquire other OEMs as customers.
WVC hopes to meet with the approval of OEMs which rejected a business relationship earlier due to the
relationship of WVC with the former parent company, Daimler AG.

Westfalia Van Conversion GmbH („WVC“)
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Quote from the manager of the group company
"The long-established company WVC is very well positioned to extend its market lead in the premium seg-

ment, in particular following its regained independence"

Economic state of the portfolio companies
Downswing
Phase 1: Acquisition

Turnaround
Phase 2: Restructuring

Upswing
Phase 3: profitable Growth

Outlook
In the main, the measures initiated are to be pursed further, in particular, reducing the dependency on a
few OEMs. Therefore significant investment is to be made in the company's own sales network. The posi-
tioning of the premium brand "Westfalia" is to be strengthened. In addition to the model "Sven Hedin", the
model "WestVan" will be presented to the market in April 2008. "WestVan" will be the first vehicle in the
new Van Class. This market segment has experienced above average growth in recent years and continu-
es to promise good growth prospects.

The chart below shows in which economic state the portfolio companies are situated in comparison to the
AURELIUS business modell
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Events after the balance sheet date
Acquisition of SAG Kommunikationstechnik GmbH (now KTD aythea Kommunikationstechnik GmbH)
With a purchase contract in November 2007 AURELIUS acquired all of the shares in SAG
Kommunikationstechnik GmbH, Hanover. The seller is SAG GmbH, Langen. SAG Kommunikationstech-
nik GmbH (SAG KT) is the largest producer-independent supplier of telecommunication network serv-
ices in Germany and achieved recent annual sales of some € 65 million with about 400 employees. The
company will be consolidated from January 2008 after approval by the monopolies and mergers com-
mission and transfer of control.

Expansion of the management board
With effect from January 1, 2008 Mr Donatus Albrecht and Mr Ulrich Radlmayr were appointed to
Management Board by the Supervisory Board. Donatus Albrecht is the director responsible for acquisi-
tions/deinvestments. Ulrich Radlmayr has taken on finance, legal and tax.

Acquisition of Mode & Preis Versandhandels GmbH
In March 2008 AURELIUS acquired all of the shares in Mode & Preis Versandhandels GmbH, Lörrach, and
its subsidiaries in Slovakia, Slovenia, the Czech Republic and Switzerland. The seller is Primondo GmbH,
Essen - the mail order group of the listed Arcandor AG, Essen. Mode & Preis is a catalogue specialist mail
order company which focuses on reasonably priced fashion for women, men and children and on prod-
ucts for the home and garden. In 2007 the companies achieved sales of some € 100 million with almost
100 employees. The company will be included in the group from March 2008.
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Outlook
In the past financial year AURELIUS succeeded in acquiring eight companies, with group sales on an annu-
alized basis rising to € 650 million. Two more purchase contracts were concluded at the end of the past
financial year and in March 2008. This will lead to the first consolidation of at least two more companies
in the first six months 2008.Taking these two investment companies into account group annualized sales
will rise to about € 750 million.

To finance this strong growth a capital increase was placed in August 2007. Securing further funds is
planned for 2008 in order to finance company acquisitions in the future.

The company is still aiming at transferring to the stock exchange segment Prime Standard in order to
increase the attractiveness of the share and the interest of investors.

The necessary restructuring measures have been initiated and partly implemented already at all the com-
panies acquired to date. Therefore management expects further rises in sales and profits in 2008. An out-
look on the development of the individual investment companies is provided in the reports on the invest-
ment companies.

The positive effects of the reorganization measures have and will continue to be reflected in the group's
results.Therefore, the management board will propose the first dividend of € 0.15 per share from the prof-
its of the financial year 2007 to the annual general meeting. AURELIUS expects further growth in 2008
and subsequent years from the existing and future investment companies.

Other disclosures
Remuneration system

Details of the remuneration system are disclosed under number 5.7 of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Munich, April 14, 2008

Dr. Dirk Markus Donatus Albrecht
Chairman Director

Gert Purkert Ulrich Radlmayr
Director Director
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Montage eines Antriebskomplettsystems
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of AURELIUS AG, Munich for the financial year
from January 1, to December 31, 2007

Consolidated income statement

Continuing operations (k€) (k€)
Notes

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

4,1, 4,2, 4,3

3.7

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.11

8. Depreciation on intangible fixed assets and property, plant
and equipment

3/20-12/31/2006

17,554

-26

1,853

–

-6,462

-5,464

-4,521

2,934

-1,247

1,687

–

66

-206

1,547

-56

1,491

-123

1,368

571

–

–

1,939

0.23

0.23

1/1-12/31/2007

305,779

-3,059

80,332

1,013

-151,196

-66,395

-95,855

70,619

-7,980

62,639

-173

837

-1,910

61,393

-4,595

56,798

-9,733

47,065

344

1,939

-1,082

48,266

5.43

5.42

1. Sales

2. Change in finished goods and work in progress

3. Other operating income      

4. Income from associated companies

5. Cost of materials

6. Personnel expenses

7. Other operating expenses

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)

9. Amounts written off financial assets

10. Other interest and similar income

11. Interest and similar expense

12. Results from ordinary activities (EBT)

13. Taxes on income

14. Consolidated profit for the period before minority interests

15. Profit attributable to minority interests

16. Consolidated profit for the period  

17. Profit from discontinued operations

18. Consolidated retained profits brought forward

19.

20. Consolidated retained profits

Earnings per share 

- basic in €

- diluted in €

Retained profits brought forward and profit from discontin-
ued operations attributable to minority interests 



(k€) (k€)
12/31/2006

5,636

30,818

11

690

37,155

6,822

1,569

7,564

–

1,171

8,250

–

25,376

62,531

Translation of the German Report

52

Consolidated balance sheet

General part 4
Group management report 12
Consolidated income statement 51
Consolidated balance sheet 52
Consolidated cash flow statement 54
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 56
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 58
Imprint 124

of AURELIUS AG, Munich, as of December 31, 2007
Assets

Consolidated balance sheet

Anhang

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.15

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Financial assets

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Receivables from long-term contracts

Trade receivables

Income tax receivables

Other current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets held for sale

Total current assets

Total assets

12/31/2007

14,405

73,710

20,450

5,715

114,280

87,629

-

51,237

3,760

28,781

38,949

7,053

217,409

331,689
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(k€)
12/31/2007

(k€)
12/31/2006

of AURELIUS AG, Munich, as of December 31, 2007
Equity and Liabilities

Consolidated balance sheet

Notes

Equity

Subscribed capital 4,9 9,015 613

Capital reserves 4,9 8,878 8,701

Consolidated net retained profits 48,266 1,939

Consolidated equity before minority interests 66,159 11,253

Minority interests 4,9 9,285 305

Total equity 75,444 11,558

Non-current liabilities

Pension obligations 4,10 12,850 8,144

Provisions 4,11 17,744 1,471

Non-current financial liabilities 4,12 27,482 15,018

Non-current other liabilities 4,13 22,263 1,964

Deferred tax liabilities 4,15 9,770 2,376

Total non-current liabilities 90,109 28,973

Current liabilities

Provisions 4,11 16,156 2,253

Current financial liabilities 4,16 18,016 5,264

Trade payables 4,17 87,565 6,520

Payables from long-term contracts 1,506 –

Income tax payables 1,941 578

Other current liabilities 4,18 40,952 7,386

Total current liabilities 166,136 22,000

Total equity and liabilities 331,689 62,531
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(k€)
2007

(k€)

of AURELIUS AG, Munich, for the financial year
from January 1, to December 31, 2007

Consolidated cash flow statement

2006

Profit for the period before tax (EBT) from continuing operations 61,393 1,547

Income from the reversal of negative consolidation differences -59,286 -1,148

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment, and on intangible assets 7,980 1,247

Decrease in pension provisions -49 -18

Loss from the disposal of shares in companies 480 60

Gain from the disposal of property, plant and equipment -362 -30

Gain from the disposal of financial assets -2,434 –

Issue of share options 23 –

Income from associated companies -1,013 –

Net interest income 1,074 141

Interest received 1,078 –

Interest paid -2,159 -141

Income taxes paid -2,265 –

Gross cash flow 4,460 1,657

Change in working capital

Increase(-)/ decrease (+) in inventories 18,528 -332

Decrease in trade receivables and other assets 5,210 1,494

Decrease in trade payables, other liabilities and other provisions -11,465 -697

Increase (+)/ decrease (-) in other balance sheet items 1,152 -215

Net cash inflow from operating activities (net cash flow) 17,885 1,906
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of AURELIUS AG, Munich, for the financial year
from January 1, to December 31, 2007

Consolidated cash flow statement

(k€)
2007

(k€)
2006

Cash paid for the acquisition of businesses -5,821 -6,346

Cash acquired on the acquisition of businesses 18,619 3,396

Proceeds from the sale of shares in companies 1,955 –

Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets 3,566 40

Cash paid for investments in fixed assets -12,562 -429

Net cash inflow (+)/outflow (-) from investing activities 5,757 -3,339

Free cash flow 23,642 -1,433

Cash receipts from (+)/ cash repayments of (-) current financial liabilities 11,377 -2,759

Cash receipts from non-current financial liabilities -12,379 3,075

Cash receipts from the increase of share capital net of transactions costs 8,112 8,814

Net cash inflow from financing activities 7,110 9,130

Change in cash and cash equivalents 30,752 7,697

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 8,197 500

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 38,949 8,197
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen

(k€)
March 20, 2006 500 – – – 500

Capital increase 113 8,701 – – 8,814

Consolidated profit 2006 – – 1,939 261 2,200

– – – 23 23

Issue of minority interests – – – 21 21

December 31, 2006 613 8,701 1,939 305 11,558

– – -642 71 -571

Capital increase 8,402 154 – – 8,556

Share options – 23 – – 23

Consolidated profit 2007 – – 47,065 9,733 56,798

– – 226 118 344

Issue of minority interests – – – 252 252

Distribution to minority interests – – -96 -1,076 -1,172

– – -226 -118 -344

December 31, 2007 9,015 8,878 48,266 9,285 75,444

Subscribed Capital Consolidated Minority Consolidated
Capital reserves net retained interests equity

profits

Minority interests from
initial consolidation

Retained profits from discontinued
operations

Consolidated profit from 
discontinued operations

Deconsolidation of discontinued 
operations

of AURELIUS AG, Munich, for the financial year
from January 1, to December 31, 2007

Statement of changes in equity 

of which associated companies – – 1,013 – 1,013
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Abbreviations

AktG Aktiengesetz (German Companies Act)

AURELIUS AURELIUS AG and its subsidiaries

AURELIUS AG AURELIUS AG, Munich

CGU Cash Generating Unit

CDGP Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts SA, Saran/France

DCGK Deutscher Corporate Governance Kodex 

(German Corporate Governance Code dated June 17, 2007

EBITDA Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortization

Einhorn EINHORN Mode Manufaktur GmbH & Co. KG, Kirchentellinsfurt

EU European Union

GHOTEL GHOTEL GmbH, Bonn, and its subsidiaries

HGB Handelsgesetzbuch (German Commercial Code)

IASB International Accounting Standards Board, London

IFRIC International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee

IFRS / IAS International Financial Reporting Standards / 

International Accounting Standards

IP Industrial Production

KWE KWE Stahl- und Industriebau GmbH & Co. KG, Wesseling,

and its subsidiaries

Logistik DFA Beteiligungsholding GmbH, Munich, and its subsidiaries

PoC Method Percentage-of-Completion Method

Pohland Pohland GmbH und Co. KG Herrenkleidung, Cologne

Quelle France Quelle S.A.S., Saran (France), and its subsidiaries

RCP Retail and Consumer Products

SAG SAG Kommunikationstechnik GmbH, Hanover

Schabmüller Schabmüller GmbH, Berching, and its subsidiaries

Scherpe Richard Scherpe GmbH & Co. KG, Krefeld, and its subsidiaries

Schleicher Schleicher Gruppe (Schleicher Electronic GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin und 

SE Berlin Grundstücksverwaltungs GmbH & Co. KG)

SIC former Standing Interpretations Committee

SOP 2007 Share option plan 2007

S&S Services and Solutions

Wellman Wellman International Trading Inc., Mullagh (Ireland),

and its subsidiaries

WpHG Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (German Securities Trading Act)
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1. Corporate informationer

AURELIUS AG, Munich, Germany (AURELIUS AG) was founded on March 20, 2006, its registered
office is at Bavariaring 11 in 80336 Munich and it is entered in the commercial register of the
local court of Munich (HRB 161 677). The shares of the company have been listed in the Open
Market segment of the Frankfurt stock exchange since June 26, 2006.

The activities of AURELIUS AG and its subsidiaries ('AURELIUS' or 'Group') include the acquisition
and restructuring of companies undergoing upheaval or in special situations, i.e. with unre-
solved succession problems, modernisation, conglomerate spin-offs or in state of economic cri-
sis. AURELIUS acquires businesses in order to realise profit potential following operational
improvements.

1.1 Basis of accounting
With the adoption of the directive of the European parliament and the council of ministers of the
European Union on June 6, 2002 on the application of international financial reporting standards
all capital market orientated businesses are required to prepare their consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for financial years
commencing after December 31, 2004. The shares of AURELIUS AG are traded on the Open Market
segment of the Frankfurt stock exchange which is not an 'organised market' in the sense of the
German Securities Trading Act (WpHG), and does not therefore qualify as capital market orientat-
ed in the sense of the provisions. Therefore these IFRS consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a voluntary basis in accordance with § 315 (3) German Commercial Code (HGB).

1.2 Statement on compliance with IFRS
The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS AG have been prepared in accordance with the
IFRS as published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), London, and adopted by
the European Union (EU) as they are applicable to groups, and supplemented by a group manage-
ment report and other mandatory disclosures as required by § 315a (1) German Commercial Code
(HGB). In addition to this, IFRS 8 ("Operating Segments"), which had not been adopted by the EU by
December 31, 2007, has also been complied with prematurely. The term IFRS comprises all approved
International Accounting Standards (IAS) and interpretations of the International Financial
Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) (formerly Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC).

1.3 Currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro ('€'). Unless otherwise stated all fig-
ure are stated in thousand euro ('k€').

1.4 Presentation
The consolidated income statement has been prepared in accordance with the type of expenditure
format. The "Income from the reversal of negative differences arising on consolidation" is disclosed
under other operating income in accordance with the IFRS and as such is included in the  "Earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation" (EBITDA).
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The classification of the consolidated balance sheet discloses current and non-current items. Current
assets and liabilities are those which are due within one year.

In order to improve the clarity of the presentation, items in the balance sheet and income statement
have been netted where meaningful and possible. Details of these items are disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements.

Due to the fact the AURELIUS AG was founded on March 20, 2006 (entered in the commercial register
on March 31, 2006), the financial year 2006 was an abridged financial year from March 20 to December
31, 2006.

The financial statements of all the entities consolidated in full were audited or reviewed by independ-
ent auditors and were either required by national law to undergo a mandatory audit or were audited
voluntarily. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of esti-
mates. In addition group accounting policies require management to make judgements. Details of
areas in which there is significant room for manoeuvre in these assessments, or which are highly com-
plex, or areas in which assumptions and estimates play a significant role in the consolidated financial
statements are provided in the following.

1.5 Consolidated entities and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS incorporate the financial statements of AURELIUS
AG and its subsidiaries at December 31 of each financial year.The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared using uniform accounting policies, as they are applied by the parent company. Subsidiaries
are all the entities (including special purpose entities) in which the group has the power to govern its
financial and operating policies. This can usually be assumed if an interest of more than 50 % is held. In
the assessment as to whether there is control, potential voting rights, which can currently be exercised
or converted, are taken into account. As a rule, subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements (fully consolidated) from the point in time at which control passes to the group. They are de-
consolidated when control ends.

The capital consolidation of the subsidiaries is carried out in accordance with the acquisition method in
accordance with IFRS 3 ("Business Combinations"). In all business combinations the acquirer values the
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at fair value at the acquisition date. Then the shares are
matched against the newly valued equity of the consolidated subsidiary at the acquisition date. The
acquisition costs equal the sum of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of the purchased assets, lia-
bilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the acquirer plus any costs directly attrib-
utable to the combination. Under a business combination the identifiable assets, liabilities and contin-
gent liabilities are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date for the first consolidation, irre-
spective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the acquisition costs over the group's share
of the fair value of the net assets is recognized as goodwill. If the acquisition costs are less that the net
fair value of the acquired net assets, the difference is recognized in the income statement immediately,
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after a reassessment has been carried out. The interest of minority shareholders is stated at the minori-
ty's proportion of the fair value of the assets and liabilities recognized.

The results of the subsidiaries acquired or sold during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from or to the date control is obtained or ends. Intra-group transactions, balances and unre-
alised gains arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction is an indication of an impairment in value of the transferred asset.

The share of consolidated equity and the consolidated profits or losses attributable to minority interests
are disclosed separately from the share attributable to the parent company.

In the financial year 2007 one investment company was sold and deconsolidated. This company is there-
fore disclosed separately in the consolidated financial statements under "discontinued operations" in
accordance with IFRS 5.31 ff. No companies are undergoing liquidation At year-end.

Associated companies are defined as ones in which AURELIUS has the power to exercise significant influ-
ence but not control. According to IFRS 28, significant influence can be assumed when 20 % or more of
the voting rights are held. The group's investments in associates are accounted for using the equity
method. Thereby the differences arising on the first consolidation are accounted for as in full consolida-
tion and are initially valued at acquisition cost. The group's share in the associated companies includes
the goodwill at the time of the acquisition less accumulated impairments in value. AURELIUS's share of
the profits and losses of associated companies are shown in the finance results of the consolidated
income statement from the acquisition date, its share in the changes in reserves is disclosed in the con-
solidated reserves. The accumulated changes after acquisition are netted off against the book value of
the associate. The group's share of unrealised gains and losses arising between group companies and
associated companies are eliminated. In the case of unrealised losses the assets transferred are reviewed
for indications of impairment in value. The accounting policies of associated companies are adjusted to
bring them into line with those used by AURELIUS in the interests of uniform group policies.

The year-end of the undertakings included in the consolidated financial statements corresponds to that
of the parent company.

A list of the subsidiaries and associated companies included in the consolidated financial statements is
provided under point 5.8 of the notes.

1.6 Application of new accounting standards
AURELIUS applies all of the IFRS, issued by the IASB in London, as adopted by the European Union (EU)
which were in force on December 31, 2007 and which are applicable to the company.

The following Standards and Interpretations were mandatory for the first time in the financial year and
were applied by the company where applicable:
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IFRS 7 / IAS 32: In December 2004 the IASB issued IFRS 7 ("Financial Instruments: Disclosures"). This stan-
dard, together with corresponding changes to IAS 1 (see below), introduces basic changes to the disclo-
sure requirements for financial instruments and brings together all the financial instruments disclo-
sures in a new standard. IFRS 7 requires information on the significance of financial instruments for an
entity's net assets position, financial position and performance and contains new requirements with
regard to reporting of risks arising from financial instruments. The first application of IFRS 7 is concur-
rent with amendments to IAS 1 ("Presentation of Financial Statements"). Qualitative disclosures must
be made on the objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.
In addition, disclosures must be made on the minimum capital requirements of third parties including
any breaches of contract and the consequences. IFRS 7 applies to entities from all industries, effective
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2007.

IAS 1: In August 2005 the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 1 ("Presentation of Financial Statements -
Capital Disclosures"). The amendments require entities to make disclosures on its objectives, policies
and processes for managing capital. It is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2007.
Application of the two Standards has not had a significant effect on the net assets, financial position
or results of operations; this is also true compared to the prior year.

IFRIC 7: On November 24, 2007 the IFRIC issued the interpretation IFRIC 7 (Applying the Restatement
Approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies). IAS 29 (Financial Reporting
in Hyperinflationary Economies) requires that the financial statements of an entity that reports in the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy should be stated in terms of the measuring unit current at the
balance sheet date. Comparative figures for prior periods should be restated into the same current
measuring unit. IFRIC 7 contains guidance on how an entity would restate its financial statements in
the first year it identifies the existence of hyperinflation in the economy of its functional currency. IFRIC
7 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after March 1, 2006. Application of the Interpretation
has not had an effect on the net assets, financial position or results of operations of the current finan-
cial statements; this is also true compared to the prior year.

IFRIC 8: In January 2006 the IFRIC issued the interpretation IFRIC 8 ("Scope of IFRS 2"). The interpreta-
tion clarifies that IFRS 2 Share-based Payment applies to arrangements where an entity makes share-
based payments for apparently nil or inadequate consideration. If the identifiable consideration given
appears to be less than the fair value of the equity instruments granted, this situation typically indi-
cates, according to IFRIC 8, that other consideration has been or will be received. IFRS 2 therefore
applies. IFRIC 8 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after May 1, 2006; early application is not
expected. The company does not expect the application of this interpretation to have a significant
effect on its net assets, financial position or performance; this is also true compared to the prior year.

IFRIC 9: In March 2006 the IFRIC issued the interpretation IFRIC 9 ("Reassessment of Embedded
Derivatives"). IFRIC 9 clarifies that an embedded derivative is required to be accounted for separately
only when the entity first becomes a party to the contract falling under IAS 39. Subsequent reassess-
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ment is prohibited unless there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the
cash flows that otherwise would be required under the contract. IFRIC 9 is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after June 1, 2006. The company does not expect the application of this interpretation
to have a significant effect on its net assets, financial position or performance; this is also true com-
pared to the prior year.

IFRIC 10: In July 2006 the IFRIC issued the interpretation IFRIC 10 ("Interim Financial Reporting and
Impairment"). The interpretation clarifies that in future interim accounts or group financial statements
an entity shall not reverse an impairment loss recognized in a previous interim period for which, accord-
ing to IAS 36 and IAS 39, a reversal is not permitted. IFRIC 10 is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after November 1, 2006; early application is not expected. Application of the Interpretation has
not had an effect on the net assets, financial position or results of operations of the current financial
statements; this is also true compared to the prior year.

The following IFRS and the following Interpretation, which have already been issued and approved, but
which were not mandatory as at December 31, 2007, have been applied ahead of schedule.

IFRS 8: On 3 November 2006 the IASB issued IFRS 8 ("Operating Segments"). This standard includes new
reporting requirements on segmental reporting in which the segments are determined using informa-
tion designed for internal reporting and management purposes ("management approach"). It replaces
IAS 14 ("Segment Reporting"). IFRS 8 comes into effect for financial years beginning on or after January
1, 2009. Earlier application is encouraged by the IASB. The standard was adopted by the EU in November
2007. The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS AG already comply with the new IFRS 8.

IFRIC 11: On 2 November 2006 the IFRIC issued the interpretation IFRIC 11 ("Group and Treasury Share
Transactions") in accordance with IFRS 2. IFRIC 11 provides guidance on applying IFRS 2 in three circum-
stances:
* Share-based payment involving an entity's own equity instruments in which the entity chooses or is
required to buy its own equity instruments (treasury shares) to settle the share-based payment obliga-
tion - is this an equity-based or cash-based transaction
* 
A parent grants rights to its equity instruments to employees of its subsidiary - how should this be
accounted for in the individual entities' financial statements
* A subsidiary grants rights to equity instruments of its parent to its employees - how should this be
accounted for in the individual entities' financial statements

IFRIC 11 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after March 1, 2007. Earlier application is permit-
ted. Application of the Interpretation has not had an effect on the net assets, financial position or
results of operations of the current financial statements; this is also true compared to the prior year.

The following Standard and Interpretations were approved during the course of the financial year but
were not applied by AURELIUS in the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2007 since
they were not mandatory (and were not applied ahead of schedule) or had not been adopted by the EU:
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IAS 23: On March 29, 2007 the IASB issued a revised IAS 23 (Borrowing costs). The main change from the
previous version is the removal of the option of immediately recognising as an expense borrowing
costs that relate to assets that take a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale. An entity
is, therefore, required to capitalise borrowing costs as part of the cost of such assets.
The revised IAS 23 does not require the capitalisation of borrowing costs relating to assets measured at
fair value, and inventories that are manufactured or produced in large quantities on a repetitive basis,
even if they take a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale.
The revised Standard applies to borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets for which the commence-
ment date for capitalisation is on or after January 1, 2009. Earlier application is permitted. The compa-
ny does not expect the application of this interpretation to have a significant effect on its net assets,
financial position or performance.

IFRIC 12: On 30 November 2006 the IFRIC issued the interpretation IFRIC 12 ("Service Concession
Arrangements"). The interpretation contains a definition of service concession arrangements. IFRIC 12 is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. Earlier application is permitted. The
company does not expect the application of this interpretation to have a significant effect on its net
assets, financial position or performance.

IFRIC 13: On June 28, 2007 the IFRIC issued the interpretation IFRIC 13 (Customer Loyalty Programmes).
The interpretation addresses accounting by entities that grant loyalty award credits (such as 'points' or
travel miles) to customers who buy other goods or services. Specifically, it explains how such entities
should account for their obligations to provide free or discounted goods or services ('awards') to cus-
tomers who redeem award credits. IFRIC 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1,
2008. Earlier application is permitted. The company does not expect the application of this interpreta-
tion to have a significant effect on its net assets, financial position or performance.

IFRIC 14 / IAS 19: On June 28, 2007 the IFRIC issued the interpretation IFRIC 14 (The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction). In many countries, laws or con-
tractual terms require employers to make minimum funding payments for their pension or other
employee benefit plans. This enhances the security of the retirement benefit promise made to mem-
bers of an employee benefit plan. IFRIC 14 provides general guidelines on determining the upper limit
of the surplus of a pension fund which can be measured as an asset under IAS 19. The interpretation
also explains how statutory or contractual minimum funding requirements can affect the assets or lia-
bilities of a plan. According to IFRIC 14 the employer does not have to account for additional liabilities
unless the amount to be paid in accordance with the minimum funding requirements cannot be repaid
to the company. IFRIC 14 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2008. Earlier appli-
cation is permitted. The company does not expect the application of this interpretation to have a sig-
nificant effect on its net assets, financial position or performance.
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2. Accounting policies
The financial statements and the reporting packages of the entities included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting policies. The accounting policies are con-
sistent with those of the prior year. Any departure from this general rule is disclosed under the respec-
tive item. The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are described below.

2.1 Recognition of revenue and expenditure
Sales revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable and represents the
amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts,
VAT and other sales-related taxes. Sales of goods are recognized when delivered and title and risk has
passed to the purchaser. Sales of services are recognized according to the stage of completion in the
ratio of services rendered to total service to be rendered in the financial year in which the services are
rendered.

Details of revenue recognition on construction contracts are provided under Inventories.

Interest income and expense are accrued and recognized by reference to the principle of the loan out-
standing and the prevailing interest rate.The prevailing interest rate is the interest rate that exactly dis-
counts estimated future cash receipts and payments through the expected life of the financial asset to
that asset's net carrying amount.

Dividend income from investments is recognized when the shareholder's right to receive the income
has been established or when management's proposal for the appropriation of profits is accounted for
in the company financial statements of the subsidiary.

On finance leases the payments received are apportioned between interest and principle in accordance
with mathematical principles.

Expenditure which cannot be capitalised is accounted for through profit and loss at the time it is
incurred.
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2.2 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognized through profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.3 Taxes on income
The taxes on income represent the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized on temporary differences arising in relation to the holdings in
subsidiaries and associated undertakings unless the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled by the group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is the expected tax to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carry amounts
of the assets and liabilities in the IFRS financial statements and the corresponding tax bases, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all
taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they are levied
by the same taxation authority and the periods of payment are congruent.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced, and
allowance made against these as necessary. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expect-
ed to apply when the liability settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is generally charged or cred-
ited to the income statement, except for such positions which are charged or credited directly to equi-
ty.

2.4 Intangible assets
Customer base
On the acquisition of investment companies the group regularly purchases for consideration the cus-
tomer potential of the business taken over. This customer base, recognized at fair value, is capitalised
as an intangible asset in accordance with IAS 38 and amortized over its estimated useful life.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the group's
interest in the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary or jointly controlled entities,
at the date of acquisition. In accordance with IFRS 3 goodwill with an indefinite useful life is not amor-
tized. Instead, in accordance with IAS 36, it is reviewed annually for impairment, and additionally in
cases where there is indication that the asset is impaired, and if necessary written down to its recover-
able amount ("impairment only approach"). To determine if impairment results, the goodwill is allocat-
ed to cash generating units (CGU). Any impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit and loss.
Impairment losses are not reversed at later dates. On disposal of a subsidiary or jointly controlled enti-
ty the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of profit or loss.
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Other intangible assets
Purchased patents, licenses and brands and other intangible assets are capitalised at historical acquisi-
tion or production cost. They have limited useful lives and are stated at historical acquisition or produc-
tion cost less accumulated amortisation.

Amortisation of intangible assets
The expected useful life of the client base is based primarily on the extrapolated average termination
ratio and on the average contractual period of the individual user contracts, on which significant mar-
gins are realised.

Intangible assets whose useful life can be determined are amortized on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the asset. The amortisation commences when the intangible asset becomes
available for use.The amortisation charge in recognized in the income statement and is disclosed under
the nature of expenditure appropriate to the intangible asset. The amortisation is calculated on a
straight-line basis over an estimated useful life. The useful lives are estimated to be as follows:

- Customer base: 5 - 10 years
- Software and licenses: 1 - 10 years
- Patents, samples, trademarks, publishing 

rights, copyrights, performance rights: 3 - 5 years
- Brands, company logos, ERP software 

and internet domain names: 5 - 10 years
- Copyright software: 3 - 5 years

If there are indications of impairment, but at least once a year, the intangible assets are subject to an
impairment test and written down to their recoverable amount as necessary as defined in IAS 36.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are recognized at historical acquisition cost or production cost less
depreciation. Acquisition cost and production cost include direct acquisition costs. Subsequent acquisi-
tion or productions costs are only included in the acquisition or production costs if it is probable that
this expenditure will enable the asset to generate future economic benefits and the expenditure can
be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance costs are charge to profit and loss in the year in
which they are incurred.

Land is not depreciated. All other assets are depreciated according to their respective economic loss in
value on a straight-line or reducing-balance basis; the acquisition costs are depreciated over the follow-
ing estimated useful lives of the assets:
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- Factory buildings: 20 - 50 years
- Administration buildings: 25 - 50 years
- Other buildings: 10 years
- Operating facilities: 3 - 10 years
- Plant and machines: 2 - 15 years
- Factory fixtures and fittings: 4 - 10 years
- Office fixtures and fittings: 3 - 10 years

The carrying amount and the useful lives are reviewed at the end of each financial year and adjusted
as necessary. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the asset
it written down to the latter. Gains or losses on disposal are determined as the difference between sales
proceeds and carrying amount, and are recognized in profit and loss.

2.6 Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets (and groups of assets) which are classified as held-for-sale are recorded at the lower
of amortized acquisition costs and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets and groups of assets
are classified as held-for-sale if their carrying amount can be released more favourably than with the
assets in use. This condition is considered to be fulfilled if the sale is highly probable and the asset (or
the held-for-sale group of assets) is available for immediate sale in its current condition. As at the bal-
ance sheet date AURELIUS has non-current held-for-sale assets as described under 4.8.

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets with indefinite useful lives are not subject to depreciation; they are reviewed annually for
impairment. Assets which are not subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognized, being the excess of the carrying amount over the recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use. For the impairment test assets
are combined into the lowest group of identifiable assets that generate independent cash flows (CGU).
Where an impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the assets (CGU) are increased to
the revised estimate of their recoverable amounts, limited to the carrying amount which would have
arisen if there had been no impairment loss in prior years. A reversal of the impairment loss is recog-
nized immediately in profit and loss. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.

In the reporting period there were no intangible assets with indefinite lives, except for the goodwill dis-
closed.

2.8 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease involve the substantial transfer of
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Fixed assets, which are rented or leased and where economic ownership has passed to the respective group
company ("finance lease") are capitalised at the present value of the lease payments or the lower fair value
in accordance with IAS 17 and depreciated over their useful lives. If,at the commencement of the lease term,
there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership, the asset should be depreciated over
the shorter of the lease term or the life of the asset;
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The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation under
other borrowings. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and the reduction of the
lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Lease payments under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern
of the user's benefit.

Where AURELIUS is the lessor a leasing receivable due from the lessee is recorded in the balance sheet in
place of fixed assets in the case of a finance lease. At the time of the commencement the leasing receiv-
able is equal to the net investment in the lease. The income from the finance lease is recognized based on
a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the lessor's net investment outstanding in respect
of the finance lease. Lease income from operating leases is recognized over the lease term on a straight-
line basis. AURELIUS did not act as a lessor in the reporting period.

2.9 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of acquisition or production cost, and net realisable value. Acquisition
or production cost comprises direct material costs and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those
overheads that that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.
Acquisition or production costs are calculated in accordance with the weighted average method. Net real-
isable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.Where necessary, inventory provisions are accounted for to
take account for excess stock and obsolescence.

2.10 Construction contracts
If the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognized in
proportion to the stage of completion of contract activity at the balance sheet date. In general this is
determined as the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimat-
ed total contract costs, unless this leads to a misrepresentation of the progress of the work performed to
date.The group discloses an asset for all construction contracts in progress with a gross amount due from
customers for which the sum of the progress billings exceeds the costs incurred plus recognized profits.
The group recognizes a liability for all construction contracts with the gross amount due to customers for
which the sum of the progress billings exceeds the costs incurred plus recognized profits. When the out-
come of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably the revenue is recognized only to the extent
of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recovered. Contract costs are recognized as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred. If it is probable that total contract costs will exceed contract rev-
enue, the expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately.

2.11 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost applying the effec-
tive interest method and impairment provisions for irrecoverable amounts. A provision for irrecoverable
amounts of trade receivables is established where there is objective evidence that the group will not be
able to collect all amounts due. The level of the provision is measured as the difference between the car-
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rying value of the receivable and the net present value of the estimated future cash flows from this receiv-
able, discounted at the effective rate of interest. The impairment in value is recognized in profit and loss.
A reversal of the impairment is recognized if the reasons for the impairment in prior periods no longer
holds true.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, sight deposits, other short-term highly liquid financial
assets with a maturity upon acquisition of three months or less. In the balance sheet outstanding over-
drafts are disclosed as liabilities to banks under current financial liabilities.

2.13 Financial assets
Financial assets are classified as follows: financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, loans and
receivables, financial assets held to maturity and financial assets available for sale. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the assets were acquired. Management determines the classification
of the financial asset on initial recognition and reviews the classification each year-end.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
The category has two sub-categories: financial assets on initial recognition held for trading and those des-
ignated on initial recognition as ones to be measured at fair value through profit and loss. A financial asset
is allocated to this category if the asset was acquired for the purpose of selling in the short-term, or the
financial asset was designated as such by management. Derivatives also fall into this category. Assets in
this category are disclosed under current assets if they are either held for trading or will probably be
realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They arise when the group provides a creditor directly with money, goods
or services, without the intention of trading these receivables. They count as current assets if they are due
in not more than 12 months after the balance sheet date.The latter are disclosed under non-current assets.
Loans and receivables are included in the balance sheet under trade receivables and other receivables.

(c) Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed terms that group's management intends and is able to hold to maturity. Loans are non-deriva-
tive financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Initially,
they are measured at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method
and subject to impairment provisions. If they are due in more than 12 months they are classified as non-
current assets. They count as current assets if they are due in not more than 12 months after the balance
sheet date.

(d) Held-for-sale financial assets
Held-for-sale financial assets are either any non-derivative financial assets designated as available for sale
or such which were not allocated to any of the other categories. They are classified as non-current if man-
agement does not intend to sell them within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
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All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized using trade date, the day on which the group
becomes committed to the purchase or sale of the asset. Financial assets not included in the category "fair
value through profit and loss" are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. They are derec-
ognized when the rights to cash flows from the assets have expired or been transferred and the group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Held-for-sale financial assets and assets
in the category "fair value through profit and loss" following initial recognition are valued at fair value.
Loans and receivables and financial assets held to maturity are measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method.

Realised an unrealized gains and losses arising on the changes of the fair value of assets classified as "fair
value through profit and loss" are recognized through profit and loss in the period in which they are
incurred. Unrealised gains and losses on changes in the fair value of non-monetary securities of the cate-
gory "held for sale financial assets" are recognized directly in equity under a reserve for unrealised gains.
When securities of the category "held for sale financial assets" are sold or impaired the cumulative fair
value adjustments that were recognized in equity are recognized through the income statement as prof-
it or loss on financial assets.

The fair value of listed investments is determined by reference to current market prices. If a market for the
financial assets is not active, or the assets concerned are not listed, the fair values are established by using
appropriate valuation techniques. These include reference to recent transactions between independent
business partners, the use of current market prices for other assets, which are substantially the same as
the asset in question, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models which take into account
the particular circumstances of the issuer.

At each balance sheet date the financial assets or group of financial assets are reviewed for any objective
evidence of impairment. In the case of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale financial assets,
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument below its
acquisition cost is determined by assessing the impairment of the equity instrument. If such evidence for
available-for-sale assets exists, the accumulated losses - measured as the difference between acquisition
cost and the current fair value less any prior impairment losses recognized on the particular financial
asset, are reversed out of equity and accounted for through profit and loss. Once the impairments on equi-
ty instruments are recognized through profit and loss they are not reversed.

2.14 Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is more likely than not that the settlement of the obligation will lead to an outflow of
resources and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If a number of similar obli-
gations exist the probability of an outflow of resources is determined by reference to this set of obliga-
tions. Long-term provisions are discounted.

2.15 Employee benefits
Pension obligations
AURELIUS operates only defined benefit plans. The actuarial valuation of the pension provision for the
retirement benefit scheme is determined in accordance with the method prescribed in IAS 19 ("Employee
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Benefits"), the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at every balance
sheet date. The present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date takes into
account the known pensions and the vested pension rights, the future increases in salaries and pensions
and the expected income from any scheme assets.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are paid when the employment of an employee is terminated before the normal
retirement date or when an employee leaves the company as a result of an offer made in order to encour-
age voluntary redundancy. The group recognizes termination payments when it is demonstrably commit-
ted to a termination of the employment of a current employee in accordance with a detailed formal plan
for the termination and is without realistic possibility of withdrawal, or when it is demonstrably commit-
ted to providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made in order to encourage voluntary redun-
dancy. Where termination benefits fall due after more than 12 months after the balance sheet date, they
are discounted.

Profit sharing plans and bonuses
In relation to bonus payments and profit sharing plans, a liability and expense is recognized based on a
valuation method which takes into account the profit attributable to the group shareholders after certain
adjustments. The group recognizes a provision when it has a contractual obligation or a constructive obli-
gation as a result of past business practice.

2.16 Litigation, claims for damages and contingencies
In the normal course of its business companies in the AURELIUS group are party to various litigation mat-
ters and authority proceedings or such matters could be instituted or asserted in the future. Even if the
outcome of the individual proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty due to the unpredictable natu-
re of the legal disputes, at this time management believes, based on information currently available to it,
that over an above the risk recognized in the financial statements under liabilities or provisions, that there
will be no material adverse effect on the net assets, financial position or earnings of the group. Contingent
liabilities relating to security provided for guarantees have been disclosed separately.

2.17 Liabilities
Liabilities are recognized at amortized cost. For current liabilities this constitutes their redemption or sett-
lement amount. Non-current liabilities and financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method. Liabilities from finance leases are disclosed at the present value of the mini-
mum lease payments.

Financial liabilities, in particular those resulting from purchase price adjustment clauses, are recognized at
fair value at the time of acquisition, which as a rule corresponds to their acquisition costs. If the financial
liability does not bear interest or only a low rate of interest the liability is measures at settlement or nomi-
nal value. The difference to the amount paid out is accounted for through profit and loss in subsequent
measurements - financial liabilities measured at amortized cost. Subsequently, the financial liability mea-
sured at fair value using the effective interest method.
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IAS 32 states that an item qualifies as equity from the businesses point of view only if the item includes
no contractual obligation to repay the capital in the form of cash or another financial asset in its place.
Repayment obligations from a company's net assets can arise if (minority) shareholders have a terminati-
on right and the exercising of this right entitles the shareholder to compensation from the group. The
capital made available in this manner by minority shareholders is disclosed as a liability, even if it qualifies
as equity under national rules.

Items due within 12 months are disclosed under current items; non-current items are due in more than
one year.

2.18 Significant areas of judgement and estimates
In preparing the consolidated financial statements management makes certain judgements and estima-
tes that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses and contingent liabi-
lities in the reporting period. The key areas where such judgements and estimates are made are in the
assessment of the carrying value of intangible assets, the group-wide determination of useful economic
lives for property, plant, equipment and intangible assets, and the accounting treatment and valuation of
provisions. The assumptions upon which the judgements and estimates are made are based on the best
knowledge available at the time. In particular this takes into account the foreseeable development of the
business in the future and the circumstances prevailing at the time the consolidated financial statements
were prepared. It also includes realistic assumptions on the development of the environment in the futu-
re. If the actual conditions occurring or materialising developments differ from the assumptions made and
these are outside management's sphere of influence, the actual amounts could differ from the original
estimations.

Our estimates are based on experience and other assumptions which are considered reasonable in the
given circumstances.The actual amounts could differ from the estimates.The estimates and assumptions
undergo continuous review.

In general, estimates of the fair value of assets and liabilities are also made with regard to the acquisition
of investment companies. Land and buildings are usually valued in accordance with land value guidelines
or by independent experts, as are plant and machinery, while marketable securities are valued at market
value. Depending on the nature and complexity of the asset, intangible assets are either valued by an inde-
pendent, external expert or the fair value is determined internally using appropriate valuation methods
which are generally based on forecasts of all future cash flows. Depending on the nature of the asset and
the availability of information, in this context various valuation techniques are employed which can be
distinguished in their approach, being cost, market value or capital value orientated.

AURELIUS considers the estimates made in connection with the estimated useful lives of certain assets,
the assumptions on macroeconomic conditions and the development of the industries in which AURELI-
US operates, and the estimates on the present value of future payments to be reasonable. At the same
time changes in assumptions or circumstances could make corrections necessary. This could lead to addi-
tional impairment losses or even reversals in the future if the developments expected by AURELIUS rever-
se.
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In accordance with IAS 36 ("Impairment of Assets") and IAS 38 ("Intangible Assets"), goodwill is reviewed
for impairment annually. If events or changes in circumstances arise which indicate possible impairment
the asset is reviewed for impairment more frequently. Goodwill should not be amortized. Under the
impairment reviews AURELIUS compares the net book values of the individual CGU with their respective
recoverable amounts, i.e. the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In accordance
with the definition of a cash generating unit, the strategic business units of AURELIUS are generally deter-
mined to be CGUs. AURELIUS defines its investment companies as such strategic units.

Where the book value of the CGU is higher than the recoverable amount the difference is deemed an
impairment loss. In a first step an impairment loss on the goodwill of the respective CGU is recognized
through profit and loss. Any remaining balance is allocated to the other assets of the respective strategic
business unit in proportion to the book values.

The determination of the recoverable amount is based on the present value of future cash flows deriving
from continued use of the strategic business unit and its disposal at the end of the its useful life.The fore-
cast cash flows are based on current budgets of AURELIUS. The cost of capital is calculated as the weigh-
ted average cost of equity and external capital (WACC), with the respective share of total capital being the
determining factor.The costs of equity capital correspond to the expected yield from the respective busin-
ess areas and are derived from capital market information. AURELIUS bases the costs of external capital
on the average costs of external capital of the respective business areas as this derives from bonds with
an average term of 10 years.

The group is required to pay tax on income. Assumptions are necessary in determining the tax provision.
There are business transactions and calculations for which the tax cannot be finalised during the ordinary
course of business. The group measures the amount of the provisions for expected audits by the tax aut-
horities on the basis of estimates on whether, and to what extent, additional tax will be due. The extent
that the final taxation of these transactions differs from the initial assumption will have an effect on the
actual and deferred taxes in the period in which the final taxation is determined.

At the time the consolidated financial statements were prepared the underlying judgements and estima-
tes were not subject to any significant risks, so that from today's point of view no material adjustments to
the carrying values of the assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements in the next year
are to be expected.

2.19 Financial risk management
Financial risk factors
The group is exposed to various financial risks as a result of its business activities: market risk (includes the
currency risk, the fair-value interest risk and the market price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, the risk of fluc-
tuations in cash flows and the cash flow interest risk. The group's overall risk management is focused on
the unpredictability of the movements in the financial markets and is aimed at minimising the potential
adverse effects on the group's financial position.

Risk management is currently carried out on a decentralised basis in the individual operating units. There
are plans to set up a central risk management system within the finance department. In doing so the
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management board will provide in writing both the principles for cross-area risk management and the
guidelines for certain areas, for example the handling of interest rate and currency risks, the use of deriva-
tive and non-derivative financial instruments and the investment of excess liquidity.

Currency risk
In the financial year the company conducted operations almost solely in the euro zone and as a result was
not exposed to any currency risk deriving from the movement in exchange rates of various currencies. A
currency risk arises when future business transactions, assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency
which differs from the business's functional currency.

Credit risk
The group is not exposed to a significant concentration of credit risks.

Risk of default
Any existing risks of default are taken into account in the impairment provisions on receivables and other
assets.

Liquidity risk and the risk of fluctuations in cash flows
Prudent liquidity management includes holding adequate reserves of liquid assets and tradable securities,
having access to financing options through an adequate level of committed lines of credit and the ability
to issue equity or debt instruments into the market. Due to the dynamic business environment in which
the group operates it is the objective of the group's finance department to maintain the necessary flexi-
bility in finance by having access to sufficient unused lines of credit.

2.20 Segmental reporting
AURELIUS applies IFRS 8 ("Operating Segments") ahead of time, which requires companies to provide
financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments. Reportable segments are operating
segments or aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria. An operating segment is a
component of an entity for which discrete financial information is available, whose operating results are
reviewed regularly by the entity's chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segment and assess its performance ("management approach"). In general the financial
information reported must be based on internal reports that are used to assess the performance of the
operating segments and to allocate resources to the segments.

AURELIUS organises its operations according to the main activity (primary segment) and geographical
characteristics (secondary segment).
The primary segments are the divisions "Services and Solutions (S&S)", "Industrial Production (IP)", "Retail
and Consumer Products (RCP)" and "Other".The segment reporting conforms to the accounting policies of
the underlying IFRS consolidated financial statements. Inter-segment consolidation procedures have been
carried out.The segment depreciation includes the amortisation and depreciation of intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

3.1 Sales

The group's sales are as follows:

3. Notes to the income statement

(k€)
3/20/-12/31/2006

12,673

4,881

–

17,554

4,159

21,713

(k€)
1/1/-12/31/12.2007

64,435

241,344

–

305,779

10,957

316,736

3.2 Other operating income

Other operating income is as follows:

Revenue from the sale of services

Revenue from the sale of goods

Revenue from long-term construction contracts

Total continuing operations

Discontinued operations

(k€)
3/20/-12/31/2006

1,148

146

141

–

198

–

–

220

1,853

1,872

3,724

(k€)

Income from the reversal of negative consolidation differences

Income from costs passed on to third parties

Income from the release of provisions

Foreign exchange gains

Income from the release of impairment provisions

Income from the increase in the surrender value of reinsurance

Gain on the sales of securities classed as current assets

Other

Total continuing operations

Discontinued operations

1/1/-12/31/12.2007

59,286

2,318

3,222

191

157

19

11

15,128

80,332

2,511

82,843

The disclosure of the income from the reversal of negative consolidation differences complies with IFRS
3.56 (b) to the extent that the fair value of the acquired identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent lia-
bilities exceed the cost of the business combination. Following a reassessment of the remaining excess
it must be recognized immediately in the income statement as a gain in accordance with IFRS 3.56 (b).
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3.4 Cost of materials

(k€)
1/1/-12/31/2007

126,560

20,692

3,944

151,196

5,221

156,417

(k€)

Raw materials, consumables and supplies

Purchased services

Purchased goods

Total continuing operations

Discontinued operations

3/20/-12/31/2006

4,731

1,308

423

6,462

2,312

8,774

Share based payments
On September 27, 2007 the management board, with approval of the supervisory board, passed a reso-
lution on the terms of the options for the AURELIUS Share Option Plan 2007 (SOP 2007) which was
approved in the annual shareholders' meeting on June 27, 2007. This authorizes the supervisory board
to grant to selected members of the management board, or the management board, with the appro-
val of the supervisory board, to grant to selected members of the management board of the subsi-
diaries, and to selected employees of the company or the subsidiaries, options for new bearer shares,

3.3 Income from associated companies

The income from associated companies relates to the share of results of k€ 1,013 of Compagnie de Gestion
et des Prêts SA (CDGP), in which Quelle S.A.S. holds a 49.99 % share. The value of CDGP was increased cor-
respondingly in accordance with the equity method under IAS 28.

The cost of materials corresponds in full the value of inventories which was recognized as an expense in
the financial year.

3.5 Personnel expenses

(k€)
1/1/-12/31/2007

54,313

12,082

66,395

4,568

70,963

(k€)

Wages and salaries

Social security, pension costs and benefits

Total continuing operations

Discontinued operations

3/20/-12/31/2006

4,345

1,119

5,464

1,854

7,318
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once or in several stages. Where options are granted members to the management board and employ-
ees of subsidiaries, this is on condition that the company must hold at least 75 % of the shares directly
and/or indirectly. The authorization for all groups relates to a total of 343,560 options (total volume)
until June 30, 2010. The options have been allocated to the individual groups for the entitled persons as
follows:

* For members of the management board of the company a maximum of 50% (up to 171,780 options);
* For members of the management board of subsidiaries of the company a maximum of 25% 

(up to 85,890 options)
* For employees of subsidiaries of the company a maximum of 25% (up to 85,890 options)

Under the SOP 2007 those entitled have the right to purchase one share of the company (AURELIUS
share) at a fixed price (exercise price) for every option granted.

Options may be granted once or in several stages within 45 (forty-five) days in each case after the day
on which the results for the past financial year are made public, or within 45 (forty-five) days in each
case after the day on which the results for the first, second and third quarters of the current financial
year have been made public, however, at the latest two weeks before the end of the respective current
quarter. The day the options are granted ('grant day') is to be uniform for the stages and will be deter-
mined by the supervisory board as far as the management board is concerned, and in other cases by
the management board.

Options expire 5 years after the grant day and can only be exercised after a waiting period. The waiting
period is at least 2 years. Options which have not been exercised on expiry of the 5 year period are for-
feited with no right to replacement or damages. Options may not be exercised in the period of one
month before the published date for the announcement of the respective results, up to and including
the first day of trading after the official announcement, and in the period between the announcement
of the convening of the annual shareholders' meeting and the company's annual shareholders' meet-
ing itself ("lock-up period"). Moreover, those entitled must adhere to the general legal regulations such
as the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) (insider trading).

a) Target share price: the target share price is determined in relation to the opening share price of the
AURELIUS share on the Frankfurt stock exchange on the day the options are exercised. The options may
only be exercised if the opening share price of the AURELIUS share on the Frankfurt stock exchange is
at least 20% above the exercise price on the day of exercise (target share price).

b) Exercise price: the exercise price for one AURELIUS share on exercising an option corresponds to the
arithmetical average of the opening share price of the AURELIUS share on the Frankfurt stock exchange
on the five trading days on the Frankfurt stock exchange before the respective grant day of the option.
The minimum exercise price is the lowest amount as defined in § 9 (1) German Companies Act (AktG).

Alternatively, as deemed by the company, the terms of the options provide for the entitled persons to
receive shares which are held by the company itself instead of AURELIUS shares from the contingent
capital 2007/II which was set up for the purpose. The decision as to which alternative will be offered to
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the entitled persons in each case shall be taken by the supervisory board where those entitled are the
members of the management board, and in other cases the management board. In their decision, the
management board and the supervisory board may only take into account the interests of the share-
holders and the company.

The SOP 2007 is defined as equity settled under IFRS 2. Consequently, the respective options are valued
once on the grant date. The related personnel expense will be allocated on a straight-line basis of the
period until expiry date and taken into account as an increase in capital reserves. In the past financial
year k€ 23 was recognized under personnel expenses and as a corresponding increase in capital reser-
ves. The valuation is based on a binomial model. At year-end all the options granted were outstanding.
All the options may only be exercised on expiry of the minimum holding period. As such none of the
options were exercisable as the year-end. The valuation is based on an independent expert valuation
report.

Interest rate

Valuation day

Expected volatility 

Closing share price

Expected dividends

Year

3.76%

29.11.2007

47.64%

34.40 €

The valuation of the options was based on the following parameters:

Grant date End of the 
minimum 

holding period

Expiry date Exercise price Fair Value per
Option

Number Fair Value

The expected volatility has been based on the historical price movements of the AURELIUS share since
June 26, 2006 and the historical price movements of comparable companies.
The following options had been granted at the balance sheet date under SOP 2007:

0.67 €

2008

1.10 €

2012

1.05 €

2011

1.00 €

2010

0.83 €

2009

11/29/2007 11/28/2009 10/27/2012 31.63 € 12.63 € 24,300   306,909.00 €

11/29/2007 11/28/2010 10/27/2012 31.63 € 13.03 € 12,150   158,314.50 €

11/29/2007 11/28/2011 10/27/2012 31.63 € 13.26 € 12,150   161,109.00 €

11/29/2007 5/28/2012 10/27/2012 31.63 € 13.36 € 12,150   162,324.00 €

11/29/2007 1/2/2010 10/27/2012 31.63 € 12.69 € 25,000   317,250.00 €

11/29/2007 1/2/2011 10/27/2012 31.63 € 13.07 € 25,000   326,750.00 €

110,750 1,432,656.50 €
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3.7 Net finance costs
Other interest and similar income from continuing operations of k€ 837 (prior year k€ 66) relates pri-
marily to the interest earned on current accounts and term deposits.

3.8 Taxes on income
The following reconciliation discloses the differences between the tax expense accounted for and the
theoretical tax expense. The theoretical tax expense is the product of the profit before tax multiplied by
the expected tax rate. The expected tax rate consists of statutory German corporation tax, solidarity tax
and trade tax, and totals 40 %. The tax rate for deferred taxes was adjusted to take account of the com-
pany tax reform 2008.

The building expenses include the cash leasing payment on operating leases of k€ 9,527 (prior year k€

1,474).

3.6 Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses are as follows:

Marketing and commission expenses

Freight and transport costs

Building expenses

Administration expenses

Impairment provisions

Consulting expenses

Office supplies

Other

Total continuing operations

Discontinued operations

(T€)
1/1/-12/31/2007

32,095

16,417

13,069

8,158

2,216

7,453

3,121

13,326

95,855

1,130

96,985

(T€)
3/20/-12/31/2006

248

145

1,879

567

101

634

236

711

4,521

520

5,041
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(k€)
1/1/-12/31/2007

(k€)
3/20/-12/31/2006

Profit before taxes on income continuing operations 61,393 1,547

Expected rate of taxes on income 40% 39%

Theoretical tax expense 24,557 603

Effect of differing foreign tax charge -9,596 –

Tax free income resulting from negative differences on consolidation -14,118 -448

Effect of tax rates difference from the group tax rate -548 -56

Trade tax adjustments 11 13

Non-deductible expenses 4,165 10

Tax free results from the sale of investment companies -3,216 –

Tax free income -56 –

Permanent differences in balance sheet items 3,996 24

Tax effect from changes in tax rates -124 –

Changes in impairment provisions current year -910 –

Income taxes relating to other periods other 308 -124

Other effects 126 33

Effective tax expense 4,595 56

Effective tax rate 7.5% 3.6%

The tax expense is as follows:

The effective tax of k€ 4,595 (prior year k€ 56) is made up of expenses for taxes on income of k€ 1,638
(prior year k€ 166) and deferred tax expense of k€ 2,957 (prior year tax credit T€ 110).

3.9 Profit attributable to minority interests
k€ 9,733 (prior year k€ 123) of the consolidated profit for the period from continuing operations of k€

56,798 (prior year k€ 1,490) is attributable to minority interests.
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*The number of shares in the prior year has been adjusted to take account of the stock split of 1:14 in order to
improve comparability.

Dividends
The management board and the supervisory board will propose to the annual shareholders' meeting on
July 10, 2008 the payment of a dividend of € 0.15 per share (prior year € 0.00) from the net retained prof-
its of AURELIUS AG of k€ 6,789. This corresponds to a total distribution of k€ 1,352 (prior year k€ 0).

3.11 Discontinued operations
On September 13, 2007, the investment in MTP Metallholding AG, Munich (formerly: AURELIUS
Metallholding AG), together with its investments in M.T.P. Holding GmbH, Peißenberg, and Grillo
Peißenberg GmbH, Peißenberg, were sold. For this reason from the third quarter 2007 this investment
is classified as discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5.31 ff. and disclosed separately. The
investment had been allocated to the segment IP until then. The complete purchase price has been set-
tled in cash.

3.10 Earnings per share

The calculation of the basic and the diluted earnings per share are based on the following data:

Number of shares* - weighted average number of ordi-
nary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: weighted
average share options 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares* for the
purposes of diluted earnings per share 

Earnings from continuing operations attributable to
the shareholders of the parent company
Earnings from discontinued operations attributable to
the shareholders of the parent company
Earnings attributable to the shareholders of the parent
company for the purpose of basic earnings per share

(k€)
1/1/-12/31/2007

47,065

344

47,409

–

47,409

8,730,700

8,730,700

9,229

8,739,929

5.43

5.42

(k€)
3/20/-12/31/2006

1,367

572

1,939

–

1,939

8,588,300

–

8,588,300

0.23

0.23

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares

Earnings for the purpose of diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (in ?)

Diluted earning per share (in ?)
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The results of MTP are as follows, whereby the comparative figures for the prior year with regard to the
results and the cash flow of the discontinued operations have been adjusted to take account of the
operations classified as discontinued in the current financial year:

The interest bearing liabilities comprise two fixed interest loans of k€ 9,203 and k€ 500.

Income

Expenses

Finance expense

Profit before tax

Taxes on income

Profit/loss for the period attributable to minority interests

Profit from discontinued operations

(k€)
1/1/-9/13/2007

13,468

-12,585

-657

226

–

118

344

(k€)
3/20/-12/31/2006

6,031

-5,080

-242

709

–

-138

571

(k€)
9/13/2007

1,677

13,563

2,066

712

100

18,118

15,229

3,717

18,945

-827

(k€)
12/31/2006

3,563

14,521

3,068

1,921

54

23,127

15,066

6,382

21,447

1,680

Assets

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Inventories

Trade receivables and other assets

Cash and short term deposits

Assets from discontinued operations

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Liabilities from discontinued operations

Net assets/(liabilities) from discontinued
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4. Notes to the balance sheet
4.1 Intangible assets
Software and licenses
This item primarily includes licences for operational standard software and systems for customer care
and invoicing. The software is amortized over three to six years, for the main part until October 2010.

Goodwill
Goodwill derives from the consolidation of equity.

Customer bases and trademark rights
In the period ended December 31, 2007 the group accounted for an increase of k€ 2,369 (prior year k€

3,519) in customer bases primarily due to additions to group companies. The customer bases are being
amortized over 6 to 10 years. Furthermore there are self-created trademark rights, patents and licenses
at Quelle France (k€ 5,041; prior year 0), WVC (k€ 1,121; prior year 0) and Einhorn (k€ 1,793; prior year 0).

Impairment losses
In the period ended December 31, 2007 there were no indications of impairment losses on licences,
purchased and self-created software, goodwill, customer bases or trademark rights. In order to comply
with the provisions of IFRS 3 in conjunction with IAS 36 and in order to determine any possible impair-
ment of goodwill, AURELIUS has allocated the goodwill to CGUs in accordance with internal reporting.

Further details are provided in the fixed assets schedule in appendix 1.

The net cash flow of MTP is as follows:

(k€)
1/1/-9/13/2007

1,026

-727

-253

46

0,04

0,04

(k€)
3/20/-12/31/2006

2,214

12

-2,173

54

0,07

0,07

Net cash flow from operating activities

Net cash flow from investing activities

Net cash flow from financing activities

Total cash inflow/(outflow) 

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations



4.2 Property, plant and equipment
Property plant and equipment of k€ 73,710 (prior year k€ 30,818) also includes k€ 10,738 (prior year k€

6,244) relating to factory and office equipment and technical plant and machines of k€ 2,930 (prior
year k€ 2,700). The ownership of the respective assets is attributable to the group as a result of the
form of the underlying leases as finance leases. The contracts relate to commercial vehicles for con-
struction services at Logistik and a production plant at WVC.
k€ 8,589 (prior year k€ 20,393) of the property, plant and equipment serves as collateral for non-cur-
rent financial liabilities.
Further details are provided in the fixed assets schedule in appendix 1.

4.3 Financial assets
Investments in associates
The financial assets relate mainly to a 49.99 % holding in de Gestion et des Prêts SA (CDGP) amounting
to k€ 19,103 (prior year k€ 0).

The assets, liabilities and the results for the period of CDGP are as follows:

* Since acquisition date

Further details are provided in the fixed assets schedule in appendix 1.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
The financial assets include an investment of AURELIUS AG in Investunity AG, Munich of k€ 1,226 or 17%
of the ordinary share capital, which, in accordance with the business model of AURELIUS, is defined as
fair value through profit and loss. At year-end losses on the investment of k€ 258 had been accounted
for through profit and loss.
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(k€)
12/31/2007

382,727

338,402

2,027

(k€)
12/31/2006

–

–

–

Assets

Liabilities          

Profit for the period*
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4.4 Inventories

Inventories are as follows:

(k€)
12/31/2007

57,597

21,301

10,302

-1,571

–

87,629

(k€)
12/31/2006

82

584

3,088

–

3,068

6,822

Finished goods and merchandise

Raw materials, consumables and supplies

Raw materials, consumables and supplies

Work in process

Payments received on account of orders

4.5 Trade receivables

Bericht aus den BeteiligungenBericht aus den Beteiligungen

(k€)
12/31/2007

53,453

-2,216

–

51,237

(k€)
12/31/2006

6,354

-389

1,599

7,564

Receivables before impairment losses

Impairment losses

Discontinued operations

Total

The inventories are valued at the lower of the acquisition or production cost and the net selling price less
costs still to be incurred at the balance sheet date. There were no material impairments at the balance
sheet date.

The finished goods and merchandise relate mainly to Quelle (k€ 34,097; prior year k€ 0), Wellman (k€

12,118; prior year k€ 0), Pohland (k€ 6,704; prior year k€ 0) and Einhorn (k€ 3,256; prior year k€ 0).

The raw materials, consumables and supplies relate mainly to Wellman (k€ 9,673; prior year k€ 0), WVC
(k€ 5,243; prior year k€ 0), Schabmüller (k€ 1,521; prior year k€ 0), Schleicher (k€ 1,406; prior year k€ 0),
Quelle (k€ 1,332; prior year k€ 0) and Einhorn (k€ 1,090; prior year k€ 0).

The work in process is attributable with k€ 3,617 (prior year k€ 0) to Schabmüller, with k€ 2,683 (prior year
k€ 2,087) to KWE, with k€ 1,999 (prior year k€ 0) to WVC and with k€ 1,030 (prior year k€ 0) to Einhorn.

k€ 7,800 (prior year k€ 0) of the inventories serves as collateral for non-current financial liabilities.
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4.6 Other assets 

Other assets include the following:

4.7 Cash and cash equivalents

The amounts disclosed relate primarily to Quelle (k€ 14,963; prior year k€ 0), AURELIUS AG (k€ 8,733;
prior year k€ 4,103), Schabmüller (k€ 2,969; prior year k€ 0),WVC (k€ 2,761; prior year k€ 0), KWE (k€

2,051; prior year k€ 961), Pohland (k€ 1,699; prior year k€ 0), GHOTEL (k€ 1,604; prior year k€ 1,303)
and Logistik (k€ 1,193; prior year k€ 1,007).

There are charges on balances of k€ 1,222 (prior year k€ 100) (restricted cash).

(k€)
12/31/2007

10,100

2,780

87

1,799

14,015

-

28,781

(k€)
12/31/2006

–

622

12

98

117

323

1,171

Capitalised catalogue expenses

Tax receivables

Employee receivables

Prepaid expenses

Other

Discontinued operations

Of the trade receivables k€ 22,079 (prior year k€ 0) relates to Wellman, k€ 5,344 (prior year k€ 0) to
Schabmüller, k€ 5,298 (prior year k€ 0) to WVC, k€ 5,259 (prior year k€ 0) to Quelle, k€ 4,428 (prior year
k€ 2,723) to KWE, k€ 2,850 (prior year k€ 1,975) to Logistik, k€ 1,710 (prior year k€ 0) to Schleicher, k€ 1,455
(prior year k€ 0) to Pohland and k€ 1,146 (prior year k€ 512) to GHOTEL. All the receivables disclosed here
are due within one year.
k€ 1,106 (prior year k€ 0) of the inventories serves as collateral for non-current financial liabilities.

The following receivables are overdue but were not written down as they are considered recoverable:

Due to the fact that the corresponding figures for the prior year could only be determined at unreason-
able expense and the amount involved in immaterial, no comparative figures for the prior year have
been provided.

12/31/2007
k€ k€ k€ k€ k€

Days 0 - 30 31 - 60 61 - 90 91 - 120 over 120

Amount 2,846 2,397 3,087 489 1,024
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4.8 Assets held for sale

Two buildings owned by Quelle France (k€ 6,121) and Schleicher (k€ 932) have been classified as held
for sale since they are to be sold in the near future.

4.9 Equity

Subscribed capital
The ordinary share capital of AURELIUS AG of € 9,015,500 (prior year € 613,450) is fully paid and divid-
ed into 9,015,500 no-par bearer shares.

In accordance with the resolution of the annual shareholders' meeting on June 27, 2007, the company
effected a capital increase from company funds with the conversion of € 7,974,850 from the capital
reserves into ordinary share capital, which consequently increased to € 8,588,300. Following this a
stock split in the ratio 1:14 was carried out. For each old share 13 new shares were issued to the share-
holders, which were traded from August 27, 2007.

In accordance with the resolution of the annual shareholders' meeting on June 27, 2007, the company
effected a capital increase from authorized capital, which was entered into the commercial register on
August 30, 2007. The capital increase was effected by the issue of 427,200 ordinary shares so that the
number of shares increased to 9,015,500 and the ordinary share capital to € 9,015,500. The shares were
issued at € 22.14 per share.

Capital reserves
The capital reserves correspond to the capital reserves of AURELIUS AG. They primarily constitute the
sum of the decrease following the capital increase from company funds of k€ -7.975 and the premium
on the capital increase carried out in the financial year 2007 by AURELIUS AG of k€ 9,031. Included in
the capital reserves of k€ 8,878 are the costs of the capital increase of k€ 902 (adjusted for taxes).
Furthermore, the capital reserves include an item of k€ 23 relating to the share options issued to
employees.

Minority interests
The minority interests include in the main Wellman (k€ 8,193; prior year k€ 0).

Authorised capital
The authorised capital existing on 12/31/2006 of € 136,550 (authorized capital 2006/I) was extin-
guished with the resolution of the annual shareholders' meeting on June 27, 2007.

In the same resolution new authorized capital was created (authorized capital 2007/I). The manage-
ment board is authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the ordinary share
capital in the period up to June 26, 2012, once or in stages, by a total of € 4,294,150 by issuing up
4,294,150 to new bearer shares for cash or non-cash consideration. The subscription rights of the sha-
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reholders can be precluded. With the approval of the supervisory board, the management board can
take decisions concerning the substance of the share rights, the conditions of the share issue and the
details of the capital increase. Following the capital increase of € 427,200 entered into the commercial
register on August 30, 2007, the authorised capital at the balance sheet date now amounts to €

3,866,950.

Contingent capital
With the resolution of the annual shareholders' meeting on June 27, 2007 and with the entry in the
commercial register dated August 16, 2007 and in the articles of incorporation of August 27, 2007, the
ordinary share capital of the company was increased on a contingent basis by up to € 1,717,660, divided
into 1,717,660 non-par value bearer shares with an arithmetical share in the ordinary share capital of €
1 per share (contingent capital 2007/I). The contingent capital is designed to serve the granting of con-
version rights or subscription rights of up to a total of 200,000 convertible bonds with a nominal value
of € 100 each, which the management board, as authorized in the annual shareholders' meeting on
June 27, 2007, can issue by June 26, 2012, and which will therefore only be implemented to this extent.
With the resolution of the annual shareholders' meeting on June 27, 2007 and with the entry in the
commercial register dated August 16, 2007 and in the articles of incorporation of August 27, 2007, the
ordinary share capital of the company was increased on a contingent basis by up to € 343,560, divided
into 343,560 non-par value bearer shares with an arithmetical share in the ordinary share capital of €
1 per share (contingent capital 2007/II). The contingent capital is designed to serve the granting of sub-
scription rights (options) to selected members of the management board of the company, selected
members of the management board of the company's subsidiaries and selected employees of the com-
pany or its subsidiaries (entitled persons) under AURELIUS's share option plan 2007. At year end 110,750
options had been granted to entitled persons.

Purchase of the company's own shares
With the resolution of the annual shareholders' meeting on June 27, 2007 the management board is
authorized in accordance with § 71 (1) no.8 German Companies Act (AktG) until the expiry of June 26,
2008 to purchase the company's own shares up to a total of 10 % of the current ordinary share capital.
At year-end the company held none of its own shares. The authorization is designed to enable the
management board to offer shares to institutional investors in Germany and abroad, and to enable
equity to be adjusted flexibly to suit the respective business requirements while acting in the interests
of the shareholders and to be able to react quickly to situations on the stock market. The authorization
also allows the company to use its own shares as purchase consideration for the acquisition of busin-
esses or participations in companies. Finally the company should have the opportunity of servicing the
share options granted under the SOP 2007 to selected members of the management board of the com-
pany, selected members of the management board of the company's subsidiaries and selected employ-
ees of the company or its subsidiaries with its own shares.
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4.10 Pension obligations

The total provision of k€ 12,850 (prior year k€ 8,144) is primarily attributable to Scherpe with k€

5,052 (prior year k€ 5,102), Einhorn with k€ 3,625 (prior year k€ 0), Schabmüller with k€ 1,928
(prior year k€ 0) and WVC with k€ 1,601 (prior year T€ 0).

The movement in the present value of the vested pension obligations arising from defined bene-
fit plans of the companies in the AURELIUS group is as follows:

The amount of the pension provision can be reconciled as follows:

(k€)
–

8,132

–

116

-124

20

8,144

(k€)

(k€)(k€)

8,144

7,351

-2,597

363

-472

61

12,850

12/31/2006

8,066

78

8,144

12/31/2007

11,902

948

12,850

Balance 1/1/

Additions to the group

Disposals from the group

Interest expense

Benefits paid

Current service costs

Balance 12/31/

2007 2006

Present value of the pension obligations

Unrecognized actuarial gains

Interest cost - increase in the present value of the obligation

Current service cost

Total pension expense

The pension expense in the financial period includes the following:

3/20/-12/31/2006

116

20

136

1/1/-12/31/2007

363

61

424

(k€)(k€)
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Expected return Fair value

12/31/2007

Category (%) (k€)

Shares 7.7% 49,647

Real estate 6.7% 4,529

Bonds 4.7% 9,892

Other assets 7.0% 2,047

Total expected return 7.0% 66,115

Plan assets
Wellman has two pension plans which are run by the company's own trustee companies (Wellman
International Trustees Staff Ltc. and Wellman International Trustees Works Ltc.). The net assets of the
plan At year-end and the values per category of financial instrument contained in the fair value of the
plan assets, together with the expected return on the assets is as follows:

This relates to the total plan assets which are available for only to fulfill the benefit obligations, and
which are not available to the creditors in the case of insolvency.

The movement in the surplus of the plan's net assets over the pension obligations since the acquisiti-
on date of the subsidiary based on an actuarial valuation is as follows:

The calculation is based on the following actuarial assumptions:

12/31/2006

4.25%

0.00 – 2.00%

2.00%

4.00%

12/31/2007

5.50%

0.00 – 2.00%

2.00%

0.00%

Discount rate

Rate of increase in salaries

Rate of increase in pensions

Fluctuation
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(k€)

(k€)

12/31/2007

Fair value of plan assets 66,115

Fair value of the pension obligations -69,372

Unrealised actuarial gains/losses 3,554

Net plan assets 297

Net plan assets on initial consolidation 206

Gain 91

Net plan assets 297

The movement in the present value of vested pension obligations resulting from the plan assets is as
follows:

Balance 1/1/2007 –

Additions to the group 70,138

Interest expense 1545

Current service cost 813

Benefits paid -617

Actuarial gains/losses -2,507

Balance 12/31/2007 69,372

Actuarial assumptions underlying the plan assets:

Discount rate 5.5%

Inflation rate 2.5%

Rate of increase in pensions 2.5%

Rate of increase in salaries 4.0%
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(k€)

Restructuring 1,139 11,511 -1,040 -2,790 5,285 14,105

Employee-related 909 3,355 -195 -9 353 4,413

Warranties 205 3,028 -395 -559 907 3,186

Commission - - - - 676 676

Pending losses - 1,385 - - 458 1,843

Other current provisions - 332 - - - 332

Other non-current provisions 1,471 10,487 -2,593 -2,856 2,836 9,345

3,724 30,099 -4,223 -6,215 10,515 33,900

Changes
1/1/2007 in Group Utilised Released Charge for 12/31/2007

companies in period in period the period

4.11 Provisions

In order to improve presentation certain current provisions were transferred from employee-related
and other provisions to other current liabilities.

The restructuring provisions of k€ 14,105 (prior year k€ 1,139) relate to employee measures, risk provi-
sioning and relocation costs.

The warranty provisions of k€ 3,186 (prior year k€ 205) primarily concern the companies Schabmüller
and WVC.

The following key measures were taken into account in connection with the employee-related provi-
sion of k€ 4,413 (prior year k€ 909):

-  Phased retirement scheme: k€ 1,883 (prior year k€ 551)
-  Long service awards: k€ 216 (prior year k€ 269)

The other provisions of k€ 11,616 (prior year k€ 2,049) consist largely of dismantling expenses k€ 1,137
(prior year k€ 685), tax provisions of k€ 1,936 (prior year k€ 470) and various individual obligations.
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The provisions are due as follows:

The liabilities to banks and other financial liabilities included leasing liabilities of Logistik (k€ 8,424
prior year k€ 2,763) and WVC (k€ 2,344; prior year k€ 0).

The other financial liabilities concern loans.

4.13 Non-current other liabilities

Non-current other liabilities comprise solely commitments relating to purchase price adjustment
clauses ("earn-outs") which will probably be incurred, these deriving from the acquisition of interests
in businesses.

The fair value of the liabilities included in the category Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortized
Cost amounts to k€ 22,263 (prior year k€ 1,964) as at December 31, 2007. The fair value was determi-
ned in the allocation of the purchase price of the acquired companies under the acquisition method.
The nominal value At year-end totals k€ 30,783 (prior year k€ 2,204). The effective interest rates used
range between 7 % and 10 % depending on the individual risk situation of the objects valued; they
are based on reliable alternative interest rates plus an individual risk premium.

The outstanding liabilities in the category Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortized Cost are due
between 1 and 7 years.

(k€)
12/31/2007

10,451

17,031

–

27,482

(k€)
12/31/2006

2,894

82

12,042

15,018

(k€)
12/31/2007

17,744

16,156

33,900

(k€)
12/31/2006

1,471

2,253

3,724

4.12 Non-current financial liabilities

Liabilities to banks

Other financial liabilities

Discontinued operations

Non-current provisions

Current provisions
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12/31/2006

- Within one year 3,865 170 3,695

- In 1 -5 years 3,149 318 2,831

- After five years 7 2 5

- Discontinued operations 2,881 417 2,464

Total 9,902 907 8,995

AURELIUS's most significant leasing contracts include contracts for lorries at Logistik, disclosed under
factory and office equipment, and the production plant of WVC disclosed under technical plant and
machines. The corresponding net book values of the property, plant and equipment are k€ 10,738 (prior
year k€ 6,244) at Logistik and k€ 2,930 (prior year k€ 0) at WVC.

If the effective interest rate is subject to future fluctuations the market risk for the interest rate must
be disclosed in accordance with IFRS 7.40.

4.14 Finance lease liabilities

The group's property, plant and equipment includes technical plant and machines, and factory and offi-
ce equipment, the ownership of which is attributable to the group as a result of the type of leasing con-
tracts involved (finance leases). The group has the following finance lease liabilities in 2006 and 2007:

(k€)  Nominal value                    Discount Present value

12/31/2007

- Within one year 4,531 531 4,000

- In 1 -5 years 11,533 774 10,759

- After five years – – –

- Discontinued operations – – –

Total 16,084 1,304 14,759



Notes to the consolidated financial statementsTranslation of the German Report

99

Allgemeiner Teil 3
Konzernlagebericht 12
Corporate Governance 53
Konzern-Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung 57
Konzernbilanz 58
Konzern-Kapitalflussrechnung 60
Konzern-Eigenkapitalentwicklung 62
Anhang zum Konzernabschluss 64
Impressum 124

4.15 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax arises as a result of the differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
in the IFRS financial statements and the corresponding tax basis of the respective group company and
as a result of consolidation measures.

Deferred tax assets

(k€) (k€)
12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Inventories 468 -

Current assets 671 -

Pension provisions 1,957 -

Other provisions 2,483 690

Liabilities 135 -

Tax losses 18,111 -

Impairment provision -18,111 -

Total deferred tax assets 5,715 690

Deferred tax liabilities

(k€) (k€)
12/31/2007 12/31/2006

Intangible assets 1,515 2,257

Property, plant and equipment 4,414 -

Financial assets 147 -

Inventories 0 119

Receivables and other current assets 76 -

Capitalised catalogue costs 3,332 -

Other provisions 284 -

Total deferred tax liabilities 9,770 2,376
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(k€)
Deferred tax assets netted off against deferred tax liabilities 3,118

Deferred tax liabilities netted off against deferred tax assets 5,104

No deferred tax assets have been recognized in respect of the corporation tax and trade tax loss carry
forwards at the individual companies. The total loss carry forwards for corporation tax amount to k€

83,267 (prior year k€ 16,663) and for trade tax k€ 1,462 (k€ 10,398). Taxable profits in Germany can be
offset against corporation tax and trade tax losses carried forward up to € 1,000,000 in full and above
this at 60 % (minimum taxation). These tax losses are not subject to any time limit in principle, howe-
ver, since December 13, 2006 they are no longer eligible for transfer to another companies by means of
mergers or similar transactions. Deferred tax assets are not recognized at the acquisition date for exi-
sting tax losses carried forward on the acquisition of a business. A review is conducted at the balance
sheet date to assess whether the tax losses can be utilised in the future. As a result of the special fea-
tures of the AURELIUS business model, the capitalisation of tax losses carried forward is limited to a
planning period of one to four years. Also the tax losses which were realised in the financial year 2007
were not capitalised due to planning uncertainties.

In determining the deferred tax assets and liabilities the following items were netted off against each
other:

4.16 Current financial liabilities

The current financial liabilities relate primarily to Wellmann (k€ 12,517, prior year k€ 0), Pohland (k€

1,500, prior year k€ 0) and Logistik (k€ 1.334, prior year k€ 4,394), and comprise in the main recourse
factoring liabilities and installments on leasing contracts which are due within one year.

4.17 Current trade payables

The trade payables are due to third parties. They are recognized at nominal or redemption value and are
all due within one year. The total trade payables disclosed of k€ 87,565 (prior year k€ 6,520) relate pri-
marily to Quelle (k€ 47,915; prior year k€ 0), Wellman (k€ 22,894; prior year k€ 0), WVC (k€ 5,089; prior
year k€ 0), Einhorn (k€ 3,346; prior year k€ 0), Pohland (k€ 1,656; prior year k€ 0), Schabmüller (k€

1,714; prior year k€ 0), Logistik (k€ 1,331; prior year k€ 496), KWE (k€ 1,076; prior year k€ 2,080) and
Schleicher (k€ 1,049; prior year k€ 0).
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(T€)
12/31/2006

4.18 Current other liabilities

Outstanding invoices 8,618 925

Other personnel expenses 6,994 1,031

Customer credit notes on mail orders 6,540 -

Wages and salaries 5,387 401

Social security 3,779 267

Deferred income 1,240 97

Other taxes 4,062 895

Other 4,332 3,770

40,952 7,386

(T€)
12/31/2007 
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The segment "Other" mainly comprises AURELIUS AG and the intermediate holding companies. In the
reporting period there were no material inter-segment sales. Details of the segments are as follows:

5. Other disclosures
5.1 Segmental reporting

The business is divided into the segments "Services & Solutions (S&S)", "Industrial Production (IP)",
"Retail & Consumer Products (RCP)" and "Other", with the segment RCP being new following acquisi-
tions in the segment in 2007. Details of the companies and their activities in the segments are as fol-
lows:

S&S IP RCP

Logistik Specialised logistics Scherpe Specialised printing Quelle Mail order

GHOTEL Hotel trade Schleicher           Pohland Men's clothing

KWE Steel construction services Schabmüller     Electric motors Einhorn Shirt manufacturer

WVC                     Camper vans

Wellman             PET bottle recycling

Company         Activities Company Activities Company Activities

Electronic control
systems
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(k€)

2006

Group sales 12,492 4,881 - 182 17,554

Income from associated companies - - - - -

Interest income 12 8 - 45 65

Interest expense -199 -7 - - -206

Profit before taxes 1,482 404 - -340 1,546

Taxes on income -145 76 - 14 -56

Segment results 1,123 472 - -105 1,490

-102 -21 - - -123

Discontinued operations - 572 - - 572

1.021 1.023 - -105 1.939

Balance sheet

Segment assets 25,382 9,973 - 4,049 39,405

Discontinued operations - 23,127 - - 23,127

Group liabilities 24,118 9,562 - -5,160 28,520

Discontinued operations - 22,454 - - 22,454

Other information

Capital expenditure 266 1,317 - 96 1,679

Discontinued operations - -625 - - -625

Capital expenditure for acquisitions 5,616 592 - 137 6,346

Discontinued operations - - - - -

-983 -354 - -5 -1,342

Discontinued operations - -237 - - -237

- 73 -28 - - -101

Discontinued operations - -112 - - -112

Restructuring provisions 352 - - - 352

Discontinued operations - 787 - - 787

S&S IP RCP Other Consolidated
rolled forward

Impairment losses through
profit and loss

Depreciation on intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment

Group results attributable to
minority interests

Consolidated profit for the period
(whole group)
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(k€)

2007

Group sales 64,435 103,651 136,435 1,258 305,779

Income from associated companies - - - 1,013 1,013

Interest income 134 122 386 194 837

Interest expense -723 -1,152 -36 - -1,911

Profit before taxes 2,677 40,008 18,636 72 61,393

Taxes on income -117 -424 -3,558 -495 -4,595

Segment results 1,777 38,508 14,843 1,670 56,798

-262 -8,898 -573 - -9,733

Discontinued operations - 344 - - 344

1,515 29,955 14,270 1,670 47,409

Balance sheet

Segment assets 32,506 142,237 145,682 11,264 331,689

Discontinued operations - - - - -

Group liabilities 32,984 107,520 130,461 -14,720 256,245

Discontinued operations - - - - -

Other information

Capital expenditure 7,104 1,752 3,706 - 12,562

Discontinued operations - - - - -

Capital expenditure for acquisitions - 4,042 2,019 - 6,061

Discontinued operations - - - - -

-3,038 -3,711 -1,165 -65 -7,980

Discontinued operations - -162 - - -

Impairment losses through profit and loss -251 -162 -805 -998 -2,216

Discontinued operations - - - - -

Restructuring provisions 450 2,694 10,961 - 14,105

Discontinued operations - - - - -

Depreciation on intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment

S&S IP RCP Other Consolidated

Group results attributable to
minority interests

Consolidated profit for the period
(whole group)
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(k€)
1/1/-12/31/2007

105,803

195,080

1,178

3,718

305,779

10,957

316,736

(k€)

The following table contains an analysis of sales according to geographical markets, irrespective of the
source of the goods and services:

Germany

Europe - European Union

Europe - Other

Other countries

Total continuing operations

Discontinued operations (Germany)

5.2 Cash flow statement

The cash flow statement shows the movement in cash and cash equivalents of AURELIUS in the repor-
ting period. The cash flows have been classified in accordance with IAS 7 into cash inflows and cash out-
flows from operating activities, investing activities and financing activities.

The AURELIUS group is characterised by strong growth, with growth deriving primarily from the acqui-
sition of companies which are currently undergoing restructuring and realignment. Therefore in should
be noted with regard to the depiction of the cash flow that the cash flow statement eliminates the
changes which result from the additions to the group. As such changes in working capital will only be
recorded in the movement of funds from the time of the initial consolidation.

The cash and cash equivalents of k€ 38,949 (prior year k€ 8,197) comprise the balance sheet item cash
and cash equivalents containing cheques, cash in hand, bank balances and financial instruments with
an original maturity of up to three months. Included in the cash and cash equivalents is k€ 1,222 (prior
year k€ 100) which is not available to AURELIUS in its operations since it serves as collateral for liabili-
ties.

AURELIUS paid k€ 5,821 (prior year k€ 6,346) for new acquisitions of companies in 2007. This compared
to cash purchased of k€ 18,619 (prior year k€ 3,396). Overall the acquisition of companies led to an
increase in cash and cash equivalents of k€ 12,798 (prior year decrease k€ 2,950) in 2007.

The free cash flow, which most clearly represents the cash flow of our business model, is calculated as
the sum of the cash flow from operating activities and the cash flow from investing activities. This rose
over the prior year from k€ -1,433 by k€ 25,075 to k€ 23,642.

Information on the acquisitions and sales of companies is provided in sections 3.11 "Discontinued ope-
rations" and 5.3 "Details of company acquisitions".

03/20/-12/31/2006

16,747

773

34

0

17,554

4,159

21,713
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5.3 Details of company acquisitions

Details of the companies acquired in the financial year 2006 and 2007 have been presented in aggre-
gate as defined in IFRS 3.68.

In the past financial period Schabmüller was purchased on March 10, 2007, Schleicher on July 5, 2007,
Wellman on July 26, 2007 and WVC on November 8, 2007, and integrated into the group. The compa-
nies of the new segment RCP were also acquired, Quelle France on July 1, 2007, Einhorn on November 1,
2007 and Pohland on October 1, 2007 and integrated into the AURELIUS group. In each case the date of
acquisition given is the date on which control passed.

The purchase price for the companies acquired was k€ 26,745 (prior year k€ 8,310). Of this, k€ 5,821
(prior year k€ 6,346) was paid in cash and k€ 20,684 (prior year k€ 1,964) is treated as additional acqui-
sition costs in respect of a price adjustment clause which will probably become effective. The secondary
acquisition costs included in the purchase price amount to k€ 241 (prior year k€ 69). This cash flow and
the acquired assets and liabilities resulted in negative goodwill of k€ 59,286 (prior year k€ 1,148), which
was recognized through profit and loss under other operating income.

The results of the companies acquired from the point of their initial consolidation to December 31, 2007
amounted to T€ -5,794 (prior year 1,232). This includes all the start-up and takeover losses, and restruc-
turing losses. It does not include the other operating income relating to the release of negative diffe-
rences on the capital consolidation (see appendix). The contributions to profits from January 1, 2007 up
to the acquisition date were not determined since these results were irrelevant for the consolidation. A
retroactive adjustment to January 1, 2007 was not carried out due to the nature of the business model
since the restructuring measures introduced mean that the figures for the months prior to restructu-
ring are not comparable to those after, and this would then lead to a misrepresentation of results.
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Assets and liabilities acquired are as follows:

(k€) Book value
1/1/-12/31/2007

Book value
03/20/-12/31/2006

Fair value
1/1/-12/31/2007

Fair value
03/20-12/31/2006

The cash and cash equivalents acquired relating to continuing operations amounts to k€ 18,619 (prior
year k€ 3,399), which meant that net cash inflow totaled k€ 12,799 (prior year net cash inflow of k€

2,947).
No business divisions were discontinued or sold as part of the company acquisitions.

Acquisitions after 12/31/2007
With the transfer of control on January 1, 2008, AURELIUS purchased all the shares in SAG
Kommunikationstechnik GmbH (Hanover) so that this company is included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements from this date onwards. SAG KT specialises in the planning, design, installation and in
particular the maintenance of mobile networks. On March 7, 2008 AURELIUS purchased all of the sha-
res in Mode & Preis Versandhandels GmbH (Lörrach). The acquisition is subject to approval by the
Federal Cartel Office.

Intangible assets 18,140 135 11,026 3,644

Land 3,917 4,007 3,663 4,681

Buildings 12,990 11,224 21,234 14,197

Technical plant and machines 22,545 3,791 23,254 4,658

Other assets 30,416 9,967 28,216 9,967

Non-current assets 88,008 29,124 87,393 37,147

Inventories 103,124 6,489 102,408 6,489

Trade receivables 47,193 10,279 47,193 10,279

Other assets 33,766 1,360 33,766 1,360

Cash and cash equivalents 18,619 3,999 18,619 3,999

Current assets 202,702 22,127 201,986 22,127

Provisions 37,030 9,758 37,030 9,758

Trade payables 78,299 8,809 78,299 8,809

Other liabilities 80,810 26,445 80,810 26,445

Deferred tax liabilities 1,597 8,617 7,209 2,040

Liabilities 197,736 47,051 203,348 47,051

Net assets 92,974 4,200 86,031 12,223
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(k€)
12/31/2007 

19,223

49,971

12,279

–

81,.473

994

465

155

–

1,614

83,087

(k€)

5.4 Other financial commitments

Other financial commitments at the balance sheet date relate in particular to rental and leasing contrac-
ts for buildings, land, machines, tools, office and other fixtures and fittings. The future payments under
non-cancellable contracts fall due as follows:

5.5 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date amount to k€ 4,286, relating to KWE with k€ 2,733 and
Wellman with k€ 1,523. They comprise guarantees, collateral, guarantees for advance payments, perfor-
mance bonds and warrantees, and guarantees to safeguard phased retirement scheme credits.
It is not possible to foresee at the moment when contingent liabilities might be actually incurred.

On July 16, 2007 AURELIUS AG provided an off-balance sheet guarantee to Banque de France in accor-
dance with Art. L. 511-42 des Code monétaire et financier, in which, if so demanded by the Gouverneurs
der Banque de France, AURELIUS AG is required to make a support payment amounting to half the
share capital of CDGP, at least however k€ 9,455, so that CDGP can fulfill its legal and regulatory obli-
gations. As a result of the very positive economic development of CDGP it is currently considered impro-
bable that the obligation will have to be fulfilled.

12/31/2006

5,981

13,654

4,547

522

24,705

293

138

–

–

431

25,137

Rental and leasing commitments, due

- within one year

- between two and five years

- after five years

- discontinued operations

Other commitments, due

- within one year

- between two and five years

- after five years

- discontinued operations
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AURELIUS AG has issued a letter of comfort to Kreissparkasse Reutlingen in which it pledges to make
up a loss for the financial year of Einhorn by providing funds up to a maximum of k€ 1,000.

5.6 Management

Management board
The following persons are members of the management board:

- Dr. Dirk Markus (Chairman), Director, Feldafing
- Donatus Albrecht, Director Acquisitions, Munich (since January 1, 2008)
- Gert Purkert, Director Operations, Munich
- Ulrich Radlmayr, Director Finance, Legal and Tax, Schondorf a. A. (since January 1, 2008)

Other management board offices held by the directors primarily include offices on supervisory boards
and management boards at subsidiaries of AURELIUS AG. Details of other offices held by the directors
in management boards are as follows:

- Dr. Dirk Markus

Member of the supervisory board:
• AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG (Chairman of the supervisory board) (since August 13, 2007)
• DFA Beteiligungs GmbH (formerly AURELIUS Beteiligungs AG) (Chairman of the supervisory board) 

(until December 6, 2007)
• Lotus AG (Chairman of the supervisory board)
• Geyer AG (Chairman of the supervisory board) (until August 24, 2007)
• Investunity AG (Chairman of the supervisory board)
• SMT Scharf AG (Chairman of the supervisory board)
• Quelle La Source SA (since August 1, 2007)
• Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts (since August 1, 2007)

Director/Partner:
• AURELIUS Management GmbH
• Hirmer Verlag GmbH
• OK Cable Gesellschaft für Kabel- und Verbindungsdienste mbH
• Time Beteiligungs AG
• Verlagsgruppe Kunstbücher (VGK) GmbH (until June 30, 2007)
• WS 2023 Vermögensverwaltung GmbH
• VGK Verlagsservice GmbH (until May 16, 2007)
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- Mr Donatus Albrecht

Member of the supervisory board:
• AURELIUS Industries AG
• KDT Kommunikationstechnik Holding AG (Chairman) (since10/10/2007)

Director/Partner:
• Investunity AG (Chairman)

- Mr Gert Purkert

Member of the supervisory board:
• AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG (since August 13, 2007)
• M.T.P. Beteiligungs AG (formerly AURELIUS Metallholding AG) (Chairman of the supervisory board) 

(until September 18, 2007)
• Geyer AG (until August 15, 2007)

Director/Partner:
• AURELIUS Growth Holding GmbH
• AURELIUS Industriebeteiligungen GmbH
• AURELIUS Industriekapital GmbH
• AURELIUS Industries AG
• AURELIUS Logisitk Holding GmbH
• AURELIUS Value Holding GmbH (until July 2, 2007)
• AURELIUS Wertbeteiligungen GmbH
• DFA Beteiligungs GmbH (formerly AURELIUS Beteiligungs AG) (until December 6, 2007)
• DFA Transport und Logisitk GmbH (until August 31, 2007)
• Equinet EarlyStage Capital Fonds Nr.1 Management OHG
• GHOTEL GmbH (formerly Deutsche Post Wohnen GmbH) (until July 2, 2007)
• GHOTEL Deutschland GmbH
• GHOTEL Germany GmbH
• GHOTEL Hotel und Boardinghaus Deutschland GmbH
• TIVEN GmbH

- Mr Ulrich Radlmayr

Member of the supervisory board:
• AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG (since August 13, 2007)
• Geyer AG (until August 15, 2007)
• SMT Scharf AG (Deputy Chairman of the supervisory board)
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Director/Partner:
• AFR Aigner Fischer Radlmayr Rechtsanwälte Partnerschaft
• AURELIUS Logistik Holding GmbH
• AURELIUS Media Holding GmbH
• AURELIUS Beteiligungsholding GmbH
• KDT Kommunikationstechnik Holding AG (since October 10, 2007)
• lakeview management GmbH
• MS Mining Solutions GmbH
• M.T.P. Beteiligungs AG (formerly AURELIUS Metallholding AG) (until December 9, 2007)
• Quelle La Source S.A. (since August 1, 2007)
• Unicorn Beteiligungs AG (formerly AURELIUS Wertinvest AG)

Supervisory board
The following persons were members of the Supervisory Board in the financial year 2007:

- Mr Dirk Roesing
(Chairman of the supervisory board), Director, Munich

Director/Partner:
• SHS Viveon AG (Chairman of the management board)
• SHS Deutschland GmbH (Director)
• DRM GmbH (Director)
• SHS Polar Sistémas Informáticos S.L. (Member of the Board of Directors)
• SHS VIVEON IBERIA, S.L. UNIPERSONAL (Member of the Board of Directors and Chairman 

of the Board)

- Mr Eugen Angster
(Deputy Chairman), Director, Munich

Director/Partner:
• Asien Expert Business Consultants
• Angster Brandstetter Roever Unternehmensberater (since February 1, 2007)
• BRSI (Bundesvereinigung Restrukturierung, Sanierung und Interim Management) 

(Chairman of the management board)
• Interim International GmbH - turnaround management & human resources -
• VOICE.TRUST AG (since December 15, 2007)
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Member of the supervisory board:
• VOICE.TRUST AG (until August 31, 2007)

- Mr Sven Fritsche,
Lawyer, Munich

Director/Partner:
• RP RICHTER & PARTNER

Member of the supervisory board:
• Wertgrund Immobilien AG  
• Buchanan Capital Holding AG (since November 22, 2007)
• Investunity AG
• Schöne Aussicht Liegenschaftsverwaltung AG

5.7 Remuneration report

Remuneration of the management board and supervisory board
The remuneration for the members of the management board of AURELIUS AG in the financial year
2007 amounted to € 108,000 each for Dr. Dirk Markus and Gert Purkert in the form of fixed salaries. In
addition to this, Dr. Dirk Markus and Gert Purkert hold a significant share in the shares of AURELIUS AG
and participate in rising prices on selling these shares. The members of the management board have
not currently been granted any variable remuneration, pension provisions or share-based payments.

The members of the supervisory board received remuneration totaling k€ 24 in the financial year 2007.
No advances or loans were extended to the management boards of the parent company or subsidiaries
of AURELIUS AG, neither were any contingent liabilities entered into for this group of persons.

Shareholding of the members of the management board and supervisory board
The direct and indirect shareholdings of the members of the management board of AURELIUS AG at
the balance sheet date amount to 44.83 % of the shares issued. Of this 3,010,028 or 33.39 % are direct-
ly and indirectly attributable to Dr. Dirk Markus and 770,014 or 8.54 % directly and indirectly to Gert
Purkert.

The members of the Supervisory Board held 122,711 shares or 1.36% at the balance sheet date.

A the balance sheet date members of the boards held options in AURELIUS AG shares under the SOP
2007 (see 3.5) amounting to k€ 50.
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Fully consolidated companies

Company Registered office Interest Equity No duty 
% T€ to prepare*

5.8 Companies included in the consolidated financial statements

The following subsidiaries and associated companies have been included in the consolidated financial
statements of the AURELIUS:

AURELIUS Asset Invest GmbH Munich 100.00 24   

AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG Munich 100.00 39   

AURELIUS Beteiligungsholding GmbH Munich 100.00 19   

AURELIUS Commercial Investments GmbH Munich 70.00 257   

AURELIUS Germany Invest GmbH Munich 100.00 23   

AURELIUS Growth Holding GmbH Munich 100.00 -123   

AURELIUS Industriebeteiligungen GmbH Munich 100.00 57   

AURELIUS Industriekapital GmbH Munich 100.00 2,181

AURELIUS Industries AG Munich 100.00 -47   

AURELIUS Investbeteiligungen GmbH Munich 100.00 33   

AURELIUS Logistik Holding GmbH Munich 100.00 1,105   

AURELIUS Managment GmbH Munich 100.00 79   

AURELIUS Media Holding GmbH Munich 100.00 -26   

AURELIUS Retail Holding GmbH Munich 100.00 23   

AURELIUS Value Holding GmbH Munich 100.00 819

AURELIUS Wertbeteiligungen GmbH Munich 100.00 56   

Munich 100.00 242   

DFA GmbH Langenstein/(A) 100.00 207   

DFA Transport und Logistik GmbH Ronneburg 100.00 518   

DFA Verwaltungs GmbH Ronneburg 100.00 24   

Kirchentellinsfurt 100.00 18

Kirchentellinsfurt 100.00 504  *
Fibres Finance Ltd, (formerly, WS 5009 Ltd,) Mullagh/(IR) 100.00 35   

GHOTEL Deutschland GmbH Bonn 100.00 24   

GHOTEL Germany GmbH Bonn 100.00 24   

GHOTEL GmbH Bonn 100.00 1,506   

Bonn 100.00 24   

DFA Beteiligungs GmbH 
(formerly, AURELIUS Beteiligungs AG)

EINHORN Mode Manufaktur
Beteiligungs GmbH
EINHORN Mode Manufaktur
GmbH & Co, KG

GHOTEL Hotel und Boardinghaus
Deutschland GmbH
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HWD Druck GmbH Düren 100.00 64   

KDT Kommunikationstechnik Holding AG Munich 100.00 -     

Ludwigshafen 100.00 26   

Wesseling 100.00 33   

Wesseling 100.00 1,440   *
MAAFS Limited Dublin/(IR) 100.00 -5   

MJR BV Tolkamer/(NL) 100.00 1,334   

NE Ventures Limited Dublin/(IR) 100.00 - 5   

Pohland GmbH & Co, KG Cologne 100.00 10,719   *
Pohland Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH Cologne 100.00 33   

Quelle La Source SA Saran/(F) 100.00 22,729   

Quelle SAS Saran/(F) 100.00 44,842   

Richard Scherpe GmbH & Co, KG Krefeld 100.00 522   *
Richard Scherpe GmbH & Co, KG Düren 100.00 -400   *
Richard Scherpe Grafische Betriebe GmbH Norderstedt 100.00 16   

Schabmüller GmbH Berching 100.00 9,497 

Schabmüller s,r,o, Asch/(CZ) 100.00 -52

Scherpe Verwaltung GmbH Krefeld 100.00 41   

Schleicher Electronic GmbH & Co, KG Berlin 100.00 418   *
Schleicher Electronic Verwaltungs-GmbH Berlin 100.00 30   

SE Berlin Beteiligungs-GmbH Berlin 100.00 31   

Berlin 100.00 501   *
SM Elektrosysteme GmbH Kaiserslautern 100.00 24   

Unicorn Beteiligungs AG Kirchentellinsfurt 100.00 42   

Vandicon Limited Dublin/(IR) 100.00 90   

Wellman France SARL Verdun/(F) 100.00 -     

Dortmund 100.00 -     

Wellman International Limited Mullagh/(IR) 100.00 29,125   

Wellman International Trading Mullagh/(IR) 100.00 22,590   

Wellman International Trustees Staff Ltc Mullagh/(IR) 100.00 -     

Wellman International Trustees Works Ltd Mullagh/(IR) 100.00 -     

Wellman Recycling UK Ltd, Bredford/(GB) 100.00 -     

Westfalia Van Conversions GmbH Rheda-Wiedenbr, 100.00 764   

KWE Ludwigshafen Stahl- 
und industriebau GmbH
KWE Stahl- und Industriebau
Beteiligungs GmbH
KWE Stahl-und Industriebau
GmbH & Co, KG

SE Berlin Grundstücksverwaltungs
GmbH & Co, KG

Wellman International
Handelsgesellschaft mbH

Fully consolidated companies

Company Registered office Interest Equity No duty 
% T€ to prepare*

**

**

**

**

**

**

**
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* Partnerships as defined under § 264a (1) German Commercial Code (HGB), included in the consolidated financial statements of
AURELIUS AG and therefore, under § 264b German Commercial Code (HGB), not required to prepare financial statements or a mana-
gement report under the regulations of the HGB for companies, or have these audited or make these public.
** Interest held is 70 % in each case indirectly via AURELIUS Commercial Investments GmbH 
*** Not valued under the equity method due to reasons of materiality
**** 49.95 % of the share in capital of 50.01 % is held via the associated company CDGP meaning that control does not exist and it is
therefore not consolidated in full.

As at September 19, 2007 the holding in M.T.P Metallholding AG, Munich (formerly AURELIUS
Metallholding AG), together with its holding in M.T.P. Holding GmbH, Peißenberg and Grillo Peißenberg
GmbH, Peißenberg, were sold and deconsolidated.

5.9 Related parties

According to IAS 24 related parties are defined as persons or entities which can be influenced by the
reporting entity or which can influence this entity. This includes parties which are controlled by or con-
trol the reporting entity and associated entities. It also includes natural persons with significant influ-
ence over voting rights, key members of management personnel (management board and supervisory
board) and close members of their families. IAS 24.10 requires that attention be directed to the eco-
nomic substance of the relationship.

From AURELIUS's standpoint, as well as those named under 5.8 and the entities included in the consol-
idated financial statements, related persons and companies include the management board and super-
visory board of AURELIUS AG and close members of their families and those entities over which they
have significant influence. They also include Investunity AG in which the company holds an interest.

In the past financial year there were no significant business transactions between the group and relat-
ed parties.

5.10 Employees

AURELIUS employed an average of 1,769 members of staff in the financial year 2007. Of these, 1,030
were wage earners and 739 salaried employees. As at 12/31/2007 2,800 members of staff were
employed.

Company Registered office Interest Equity No duty 
% T€ to prepare*

Associated companies

Compagnie de Gestion et des Prets (CDGP) Saran/(F) 49.99 44,325   

DMS Digitaler Medienservice GmbH *** Norderstedt 33.33 27   

La Source SARL**** Saran/(F) 50.01 -     
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5.11 Declaration on the German Corporate Governance Code

AURELIUS AG is not listed on the stock exchange as defined in the German Companies Act (AktG) (see
1.1) but complies with the DCGK on a voluntary basis. The management board and the supervisory
board of AURELIUS AG issued the declaration required by § 161 German Companies Act (AktG) on April
14, 2008 and in addition to this have published the information to the shareholders on a continuous
basis on the company's homepage under www.aureliusinvest.de and in the annual report 2007. Details
of the deviations are documented there and explained accordingly.

5.12 Disclosures in accordance with §160 (1) no. 8 German Companies Act
(AktG)

In the financial year 2007 no reports were issued concerning the transgression of limits of the share of
voting rights in accordance with § 20 German Companies Act (AktG).
The shareholding of over 25 % in AURELIUS AG held by Lotus AG which was reported in the prior year
still exists.

5.13 Events after the balance sheet date

Acquisition of SAG Kommunikationstechnik GmbH (now KTD aythea Kommunikationstechnik GmbH)
With a purchase contract in November 2007 AURELIUS acquired all of the shares in SAG Kommunika-
tionstechnik GmbH, Hanover. The seller is SAG GmbH, Langen. SAG Kommunikationstechnik GmbH
(SAG KT) is the largest producer-independent supplier of telecommunication network services in
Germany and achieved recent annual sales of some € 65 million with about 400 employees. The com-
pany will be consolidated from January 2008 after approval by the monopolies and mergers commis-
sion and transfer of control.

Expansion of the management board
With effect from January 1, 2008 Mr Donatus Albrecht and Mr Ulrich Radlmayr were appointed to
Management Board by the Supervisory Board. Donatus Albrecht is the director responsible for acquisi-
tions/deinvestments. Ulrich Radlmayr has taken on finance, legal and tax.

Acquisition of Mode & Preis Versandhandels GmbH
In March 2008 AURELIUS acquired all of the shares in Mode & Preis Versandhandels GmbH, Lörrach, and
its subsidiaries in Slovakia, Slovenia, the Czech Republic and Switzerland. The seller is Primondo GmbH,
Essen - the mail order group of the listed Arcandor AG, Essen. Mode & Preis is a catalogue specialist mail
order company which focuses on reasonably priced fashion for women, men and children and on prod-
ucts for the home and garden. In 2007 the companies achieved sales of some € 100 million with almost
100 employees. The company will be included in the group from March 2008.
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5.14 Authorisation to issue the consolidated financial statements in accor-
dance with IAS 10.17

These consolidated financial statements were approved for issue by the management board on April
14, 2008.

Munich, April 14, 2008

Dr, Dirk Markus Donatus Albrecht
Chairman of the management board Director

Gert Purkert Ulrich Radlmayr
Director Director
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Independent auditors' report
We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by AURELIUS AG, Munich, - comprising
the income statement, the balance sheet, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equity, and the
notes to the consolidated financial statements - and the group management report for the financial
year from January 1, to December 31, 2007.The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and
the group management report in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as
adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a (1)
HGB and supplementary provisions of the articles of incorporation are the responsibility of the
Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial state-
ments and on the group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB (German
Commercial Code) and German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements
promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial
position and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the appli-
cable financial reporting framework and in the group management report are detected with reasonable
assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the Group
and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit
procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence sup-
porting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the group directors' report are
examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the
annual financial statements of those entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities to
be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the group management report.We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.
Our audit has not led to any reservations with the exception of the following: contrary to IFRS 3 entity-
specific disclosures on the entities acquired were not made. In addition, the profit on disposal as
required by IFRS 5 has not been disclosed.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS
AG, Munich, with the above exceptions, comply with IFRS, as adopted by the EU, the additional require-
ments of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a (1) HGB and supplementary provisions of the arti-
cles of incorporation and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of oper-
ations of the Group in accordance with these requirements.The group management report is consistent
with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group's posi-
tion and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Munich, April 14, 2008

Deloitte & Touche GmbH
Audit firm

signed Aumann signed Kettler
Auditor Auditor
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Fixed assets schedule 2006

(k€)
Additions to  

03/20/2006 the group Additions Disposals Transfers 12/31/2006

Acquisition or production costs

Buildings incl. buildings on
third party land

Other equipment, factory and
office equipment
Payments on account and
assets under construction

Intangible assets

Software and licences – 847 55 – – 902

Goodwill – – 2,089 – – 2,089

Customer bases and trademarks – 3,519 – – – 3,519

Total intangible assets – 4,366 2,144 – – 6,510

Property, plant and equipment

Land and land rights – 4,834 – – – 4,834

– 20,472 4 – – 20,476

Technical plant and machines – 20,528 258 -1 28 20,813

– 18,773 370 -390 – 18,753

– 28 368 – -28 368

Total Property, plant and equipment – 64,635 1,000 -391 – 65,244

Financial assets

Shares in associated companies – 11 – – – 11

Total financial assets – 11 – – – 11

Total fixed assets – 69,012 3,144 -391 – 71,765



Fixed assets scheduleTranslation of the German Report

121

Allgemeiner Teil 3
Konzernlagebericht 12
Corporate Governance 53
Konzern-Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung 57
Konzernbilanz 58
Konzern-Kapitalflussrechnung 60
Konzern-Eigenkapitalentwicklung 62
Anhang zum Konzernabschluss 64
Impressum 124

Other equipment, factory and
office equipment
Payments on account and
assets under construction

(k€)

Depreciation

Buildings incl. buildings on
third party land

Shares in associated
companies

03/20/2006 Additions to 
the group

Charge for
the year

Disposals 12/31/2006 Net book
value

Intangible assets

Software and licences – -721 -20 – -741 161

Goodwill – – – – – 2,089

Customer bases and trademarks – – -133 – -133 3,386

Total intangible assets – - 721 -153 – -874 5,636

Property, plant and equipment

Land and land rights – -153 – – -153 4,681

– -6,276 -168 – -6,444 14,032

Technical plant and machines – -15,871 -381 1 -16,251 4,562

– -11,049 -877 348 -11,578 7,175

– – – – – 368

Total property, plant and equipment – -33,349 -1,426 349 -34,426 30,818

Financial assets

– – – – – 11

Total financial assets – – – – – 11

Total fixed assets – -34,070 -1,579 349 -35,300 36,465
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Fixed assets schedule 2007

(k€)

Acquisition or production costs

1/1/2007 Discontinued
operations

Continuing
operations

Additions to
the group

Additions Disposals 12/31/2007

Buildings incl. buildings on
third party land

Other equipment, factory and
office equipment
Payments on account and
assets under construction

Intangible assets

Software and licences 902 421 481 7,265 90 -9 7,826

Goodwill 2,089 1,520 569 – – – 569

Customer bases and trademarks 3,519 2,009 1,510 8,409 241 -600 9,560

Total intangible assets 6,510 3,950 2,560 15,674 331 -609 17,956

Property, plant and equipment

Land and land rights 4,834 2,703 2,131 4,051 – – 6,182

20,476 10,255 10,221 19,441 36 -49 29,649

Technical plant and machines 20,813 12,207 8,606 31,324 1,137 -1,025 40,042

18,753 2,272 16,481 22,872 10,792 -9,225 40,920

368 368 – 1,062 266 -17 1,311

Total property, plant and equipment 65,244 27,806 37,439 78,751 12,231 -10,316 118,104

Financial assets

Shares in associated companies 11 – 11 17,890 2,439 – 20,340

Other financial assets – – – 577 – -467 110

Total financial assets 11 – 11 18,467 2,439 -467 20,450

Total fixed assets 71,765 31,756 40,010 112,891 15,001 -11,391 156,510
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Depreciation

1/1/2007 Discontinued
operations

Continuing
operations

Additions to
the group

Charge for
the year

Disposals 12/31/2007 Net book
value

Buildings incl. buildings on
third party land

Other equipment, factory
and office equipment
Payments on account and assets
under construction

Intangible assets

Software and licences -741 -350 -391 -983 -72 6 -1,440 6,386

Goodwill – – – – – – – 569

Customer bases and trademarks -133 -54 -79 -1,656 -968 593 -2,109 7,451

Total intangible assets -874 -404 -470 -2,638 -1,041 599 -3,550 14,406

Property, plant and equipment

Land and land rights -153 -39 -114 -200 -2 – -315 5,867

-6,444 -1,621 -4,823 -4,329 -476 43 -9,585 20,065

Technical plant and machines -16,251 -9,699 -6,552 -5,215 -2,800 895 -13,672 26,370

-11,578 -1,968 -9,610 -13,734 -3,662 6,184 -20,823 20,097

– – – – – – – 1,311

Total property, plant and equipment -34,426 -13,327 -21,099 -23,478 -6,939 7,121 -44,395 73,710

Financial assets

Shares in associated companies – – – – – – 20,340

Other financial assets – – – – – – 110

Total financial assets – – – – – – 20,450

Total fixed assets -35,300 -13,731 -21,569 -26,116 -7,980 7,720 -47,944 108,566



Translation of the German Report

124

Imprint

General part 4
Group management report 12
Consolidated income statement 51
Consolidated balance sheet 52
Consolidated cash flow statement 54
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 56
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 58
Imprint 124

AURELIUS AG
Bavariaring 11
80336 Munich
Telephone: +49 89 544799-0
Facsimile: +49 89 544799-55
info@aureliusinvest.com

Editor
AURELIUS AG
Investor Relations &Corporate Communications
Telephone: +49 89 544799-56
Facsimile: +49 89 544799-55
info@aureliusinvest.com

Designed and produced by 
AURELIUS AG Marketing Task Force
Uschi Kraft
Telephone: +49 89 544799-0
Facsimile: +49 89 544799-55
uschi.kraft@aureliusinvest.com

Commercial register
Registered office: Munich
Local court of Munich, reg. no. 161677
VAT identification number: DE 248377455

Imprint / Contacts





AURELIUS AG 
Bavariaring 11 . 80336 München

Telefon +49 89 544799-0 . Telefax +49 89 544799-55
info@aureliusinvest.com . www.aureliusinvest.com

AUR E L I U SAUR E L I U S


